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Caring
    for  
  Children
Since 1872

CHI at Temple Street (formerly known as Temple Street 
Children’s University Hospital) is an acute national 
paediatric hospital. Major specialities at Temple Street 
today include neonatal and paediatric surgery, neurology, 
neurosurgery, nephrology, orthopaedics, ENT and plastic 
surgery. The National Paediatric Craniofacial Centre (NPCC), 
the National Centre for Inherited Metabolic Disorders 
(NCIMD) and the National Newborn Screening Centre 
(NNSC), the national centre for paediatric ophthalmology, 
the national airways management centre and the national 
meningococal laboratory are all based at Temple Street. 
Temple Street cares for 140,000+ children per year which 
includes 49,000 children who present at the hospital’s 
Emergency Department (ED). A staff of 95 Consultants and 
1,400 nursing, HSCPs (Health and Social Care Professionals) 
and other staff deliver this care.
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The hospital is founded as a 
charitable infirmary at No. 9 
Upper Buckingham Street, D1 The hospital moves to No 15 

upper Temple Street, D1

Thomas More Madden, one 
of the hospital’s founding 
doctors, speaks on its behalf 
at the Spencer Commission, 
presenting the case that Irish 
children deserve to be treated 
in a special environment of 
their own rather than in an 
adult hospital

Members of the British royal 
family visit Temple Street
during Queen Victoria’s visit 
to Dublin

Temple Street admits 
children affected by the 
Spanish flu epidemic

The Irish Sweepstakes ushers 
in a new era of expansion 
and growth. St Patrick’s block 
at the hospital is completed 
and the old grand staircase is 
removed from No. 15

A National Newborn 
Screening Service (NNSS) for 
Phenylketonuria (PKU) starts 
at Temple Street

Billy Butlin lays the foundation 
stone for the new Radiology 
Department with funding from 
Variety Club of IrelandSt. Brigid’s Ward opens for 

children with metabolic 
disorders at Temple Street

The National Centre for 
Paediatric Ophthalmology 
opens at Temple Street

The National Paediatric 
Haemodialysis and Kidney 
Transplantation service 
moved from Beaumont 
Hospital, D9 to Temple Street

A ground breaking Speech 
Therapy clinic is started at 
Temple Street under the 
auspices of Sr. Marie de 
Montfort

Complete refurbishment 
and upgrade of Top Flat 
Ward begins

Celebratory event held to 
mark the 100th kidney 
transplant conducted in 
Temple Street since the 
National Paediatric 
Haemodialysis and Kidney 
Transplantation service 
started in 2003

Projects Department 
delivered completely 
refurbished Phlebotomy 
Department in OPD 
following relocation of 60 
administrative teams to 
Temple Theatre

New Renal (The Gill Unit) 
and Neurology (The King 
Unit) OPD which offer 
superior clinical facilities, 
bright and spacious waiting 
rooms and patient play 
areas was opened. This new 
OPD is catering for over 
6,500 children who attend 
Temple Street every year

Day long national Symposium 
titled ‘Celebrating 10 years of 
neurosurgery at Temple Street’ 
was organised with 13 clinicians 
on speaker programme and 190 
delegates in attendance. 
Announcement also made that 
over 5,000 neurosurgical 
procedures have been 
conducted over the last ten 
years in children aged 0 – 16 
years at the Department of 
Paediatric Neurosurgery

The National Paediatric 
Cochlear Implantation 
service starts at Temple 
Street 

The Temple Street garden 
opens

The PICU (Paediatric 
Intensive Care Unit) opens at 
Temple Street

Michaels B Ward for 
neonates is significantly 
renovated and upgraded at 
Temple Street

The Multisensory Room 
opens at Temple Street
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71% of our staff availed of 
the vital flu vaccination 
during the 2017 Flu 
Vaccination campaign, 
providing protection against 
the flu for themselves, 
colleagues, family, friends 
and most importantly our 
young patients

2017

2018

1966



Chief 
Executive’s 
Foreword

On 4th November 2018, Minister Harris welcomed 
the passing of the Children’s Health Bill through the 
Oireachtas and the establishment of CHI (Children’s 
Health Ireland). In this regard 1st January 2019 
known as Commencement day marked the transfer 
of three national children’s hospitals; Temple Street 
Children’s University Hospital, Our Lady’s Children’s 
Hospital Crumlin, NCH Tallaght University Hospital 
and the Children’s Hospital Group (CHG) into our new 
single entity called Children’s Health Ireland (CHI). So 
our new name is CHI at Temple Street. 

Commencement was of course an extremely 
momentous day in Temple Street’s Day however the 
purpose of this Chief Executive’s Foreword for this 
2018 Annual Report is to present some highlights 
from our activities and achievements in Temple 
Street over the course of that year, which you can 
read more about in the body of the Annual Report. 

Firstly our hospital looked after up to 140,000+ 
children and teenagers through our in-patient, day 
case, Emergency Department (ED) and OPD services 
and as you will see from a sample of the 
compliments we received from grateful and 
impressed parents and families on page 35, our staff 
continue to provide care to the highest standard in a 
friendly and efficient manner. 

Dear colleague

It is with some nostalgia that I am 
writing this Chief Executive’s Foreword 
as this is the last Annual Report for 
Temple Street Children’s University 
Hospital. 

In this regard our kind, committed and focused 
staff remain the bedrock of Temple Street and we 
are always delighted to recognise their efforts via 
our annual Extraordinary Staff Awards campaign. 
So in December 2018, we were thrilled to present 
four awards following nomination from 
colleagues across the hospital. Sabrina Shannon, 
Staff Nurse, Ophthalmology Department, won the 
Extraordinary Colleague –  Clinical award, David 
Donegan, Technical Services Department and 
Lavelinda Oglinzeanu, Ward Clerk St Michael’s C 
won Extraordinary Colleague – Non Clinical 
awards, the Top Flat MDT won the Extraordinary 
Team – Clinical award and the Catering and 
Household Team won the Extraordinary Team – 
Non Clinical Award. Finally I was especially 
pleased to present the CEO Award for 2018 to 
Grainne Bauer, Director of Nursing. 

As always we had a significant focus on nurse 
education in Temple Street during 2018 and 
encouraging nurses to consider paediatrics as 
their speciality of choice. So we were really 
pleased when on Friday 27th March 2018, 33 
students graduated from the Higher Diploma in 
Children’s Nursing and 22 nurses graduated from 
the B.Sc. in Children’s and General Nursing and 20 
of those who graduated joined our workforce 
where we offered them further excellent career 
development opportunities. 

We were also delighted to welcome three new 
Consultants to Temple Street in 2018 and they 
were Dr Kathleen Gorman, Consultant Paediatric 
Neurologist, Dr Siobhan Hoare, Consultant 
Paediatric Radiologist and Dr Yusra Sheikh, 
Consultant Paediatric Radiologist.
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With patient safety and staff health always top of our 
agenda, as always from October 2018 we really drove 
uptake of the flu vaccination and by early January 
2019, 72% of our staff had availed of the vaccine 
providing protection against the flu for themselves, 
their colleagues, their family and friends and their 
young patients. I would therefore like to take this 
opportunity to sincerely thank the 17 Peer 
Vaccinators (nurse colleagues) who staffed the 
regular vaccination clinics ensuring that we achieved 
such a successful uptake and remained as one of the 
top three HSE-funded Hospitals and Long Term Care 
Facilities in Ireland for vaccination uptake. 

Tuesday 28th August 2018 marked the launch of the 
‘Bringing the Board of Directors on Board with 
Quality and Safety of Clinical Care’ Case-Study and 
Toolkit. This resource had been devised by Temple 
Street’s Quality Department in consultation with our 
Board of Directors and in partnership with the HSE 
Quality Improvement Division. The key objective is to 
guide Boards in focusing more on quality, improving  
patient safety and strengthening quality of clinical 
care.

In our continued efforts to improve the environment 
and infrastructure in which care is delivered to our 
young patients and their families, on Tuesday 23rd 
February 2018, Temple Street unveiled its new Renal 
and Neurology OPD which offers superior clinical 
facilities, bright and spacious waiting rooms and 
patient play areas. This new OPD will cater for over 
6,500 renal and neurology patients who attend 
Temple Street every year. Then in March 2018, we 
held a special ceremony to officially name these 
units, the King and Gill Units in recognition of 
Professor Mary King, Consultant Paediatric 
Neurologist and Founder of the Neurology and 
Clinical Neurophysiology Department at Temple 
Street and Professor Denis Gill, Consultant Paediatric 
Nephrologist and Founder of Paediatric Nephrology 
Services at Temple Street (now retired).

During 2018, we also worked closely with the CHG 
and our colleagues in OLCHC and NCH Tallaght on 
the ‘integration’ agenda in preparation for 
Commencement into one legal entity in January 2019. 
Much of this work focused on promoting cultural 
integration through the OMT (On the Move Together) 
all staff network and clinical Integration and efforts 
to formulate a seamless cross city service. 

So I hope you are as impressed as I am when you 
read this Annual Report and have an opportunity 
to consider all the work we undertook in 2018 and 
the advances in the care and treatment of sick 
children across Ireland that we provided.

Finally I would also like to express my sincere 
thanks to our outgoing Mr Sean Sheehan, 
Chairman of Temple Street’s Board of Directors 
for his on-going leadership, dedication to our 
hospital and personal assistance to me. I would 
also like to thank the other 11 Board members for 
their expertise and loyalty to Temple Street and 
all we try to achieve in caring for sick children in 
our hospital and in delivering best practice in 
children’s healthcare in Ireland. 

But is with much sadness and as we conclude the 
compilation of our 2018 Annual Report, that we 
acknowledge the passing of Dr Margherita Rock, a 
member of our Board on 29th July 2019. The care 
and education of children and the care of 
vulnerable people were key themes of Sr 
Margherita’s working life. Sr Margherita was a 
founder member of the Mater Child Guidance 
Clinic and the Mater Child and Family Centre in 
Ballymun. She was also a founder member of St 
Paul’s Special School for Autistic Children in 
Beaumont, and the Catherine McAuley School for 
Children with Dyslexia in Baggot Street. The list of 
programmes she helped establish, and the groups 
she worked with, are varied and plentiful but the 
beneficiaries included parents, childcare workers, 
pre-school children, and children with special 
needs and mental health difficulties. I know that 
Sr Margherita is greatly missed by her many 
colleagues and friends here in Temple Street and 
in our neighbouring Mater Hospital and we will 
always be indebted to her. 

We are honoured to look after the 140,000+ 
children who are entrusted into our care every 
year and we intend to make a lasting difference 
to the way that care is delivered to each and 
every child, each and every day.   

Mona Baker
Chief Executive Officer 
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Chairman’s 
Statement

As I present this Annual Report, I am also reflecting 
on six years as Chairman of the Board which has 
always been a position that I have felt greatly 
honoured to hold. I have also felt deeply privileged to 
be supported by the other 12 expert and highly 
committed Board members during those years, a 
group of professionals who gave so freely of their 
time, expertise and energy. 

In her CEO’s Foreword, I know Mona Baker has given 
you a flavour of some of the significant 
accomplishments that are outlined in our Annual 
Report and that we are incredibly proud of. These 
accomplishments and others offer us continuous 
opportunities to deliver even more advanced, 
effective and safer care to the 145,000 children that 
come through the Temple Street blue door every 
year. 

In this regard my Chairman’s Statement will focus 
more on the birth of CHI (Children’s Health Ireland). 
In tandem with my role as the Chairman of the 
Temple Street Children’s University Hospital Board of 
Directors, I was a member of the original CHG 
(Children’s Hospital Group) Board since it was first 
established by the Minister for Health in 2013. 

Since 2013, the CHG Board, in collaboration with the 
existing Boards of the three children’s hospitals was 
focused on the clinical integration of paediatric 
services in the three hospitals, their corporate

Dear reader,

On behalf of Temple Street Children’s 
University Hospital outgoing Board of 
Directors, it gives me pleasure to 
present our 2018 Annual Report which 
will be our last Annual Report under 
that name. 

 functions, and development of an effective 
contemporary single organisational structure for 
the CHG, before the new children’s hospital 
opens.

As Mona Baker however advised in her Chief 
Executive’s Foreword, a key milestone of this 
service integration programme was the 
enactment of the Children’s Health Act 2018 in 
November 2018 and part-commencement which 
provided for the establishment of Children’s 
Health Ireland (CHI) on 4th December 2018. 

On this date the Minister for Health appointed a 
12-member CHI Board to take over responsibility 
for services currently provided by Dublin’s three 
children’s hospitals and run the new children’s 
hospital in due course. Please see https://
www.cuh.ie/who-we-are/board-directors/chi-
board/. I was appointed as a member of the CHI 
Board. Again I felt extremely honoured to be 
going forward in the hope of making an active 
contribution to positively changing the way we 
deliver paediatric healthcare across Ireland with 
the new children’s hospital at the heart of the 
project.

Our first CHI Board meeting, Chaired by Professor 
Jim Browne, was held on 14th December 2018 and 
the three children’s hospitals transferred into this 
single public body on 1st January 2019, the date 
known as Commencement. 

So with the birth of CHI, we have embarked on 
exciting new beginnings with a name that clearly 
promotes the importance of ‘children’s health in 
Ireland’ and our vital role in establishing a truly 
integrated children’s healthcare network, in 
partnership with our colleagues in primary and 
secondary care, across Ireland. 
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CHI is also essentially the client for the new children’s 
hospital working to ensure that the new children’s 
hospital is designed to enable future paediatric 
services to be delivered as efficiently and effectively 
as possible.

We know that our three national children’s hospitals 
already deliver highly specialist treatment and care 
and positive health outcomes to thousands of 
children across Ireland every year. However we are 
confident that CHI, as one single entity that is 
transitioning to a new way of delivering children’s 
healthcare, can only go from strength to strength to 
deliver even better outcomes, an enhanced 
experience by those that we provide treatment and 
care to and importantly, a better working 
environment for the 3,500 staff that work across CHI. 

As we deliver on this new network of children’s 
healthcare, we celebrate the impressive construction 
related milestones that are reached as we get closer 
to the opening of the two new OPDs and Urgent Care 
Centres (UCC) at Connolly and Tallaght Hospitals in 
2019 and 2020 and the new children’s hospital on the 
St James’s Hospital site in 2022. 

By the end of 2018, construction at the new 
children’s hospital site was progressing with pace 
with a focus on basement excavation and piling. 
Piling was in fact well advanced and nearing 
completion and service diversions and building the 
utility tunnel was complete. Works had already 
commenced on placing concrete in walls, slabs and 
columns in the lower basement area and a number 
of Tower and Luffer Cranes were visible from the site 
which will be used to assist construction of all 
aspects. 

The construction of two new paediatric OPDs and 
UCCs Connolly and Tallaght are also a focal part of 
the new children’s hospital project. By the end of 
2018 construction of the two new OPDs and UCCs 
was progressing extremely well, with the main drive 
at Connolly where the external façade was complete, 
inclusive of the roof with enabling and decant works 
also complete at the Tallaght site. As I conclude this 
Chairman’s Statement, CHI at Connolly has of course 
opened and we look forward to the opening of the 
CHI at Connolly OPD and UCC in Summer 2020. 

The three infographics below will also give an idea of 
what we are striving for in the delivery of a world 
class and fully digital children’s hospital on the St 
James’s Hospital site and in the delivery of the two 
OPDs and UCCs at Connolly and Tallaght.

So as I close out on this Chairman’s Statement for our 
2018 Annual Report, I would like to sincerely thank 
Temple Street’s 200+ Consultants and Junior Doctors 
across all the many specialities that we offer for

their high calibre skills and ever enduring 
commitment. I would also like to complement our 
450+ nurses and 260+ HSCPs for their tireless care 
and compassion. 

In addition I would like to thank our academic 
partners; the UCD School of Medicine and Medical 
Science, the Royal College of Surgeons of Ireland 
and the DCU School of Nursing and Human 
Sciences. We work very closely with these three 
institutions to provide an enviable training 
ground for medical and nursing students and 
these students greatly contribute to and benefit 
our working environment as they learn from us 
and we continuously learn from them.  

I would also like to acknowledge our non-clinical 
staff including hospital management, 
administration and support staff for their spirit of 
partnership with our clinical staff and for their 
dedication to families and parents. I have 
witnessed numerous examples of clinical and 
non-clinical teams working together in harmony 
to deliver the best experience and safest 
outcomes for our young patients and their 
families and the compliments from parents on 
page 35 of this Report are testament to that. 

We also owe very special thanks to the Temple 
Street Foundation (the fundraising arm of the 
hospital) and the thousands of incredibly kind 
and generous donors and supporters that the 
Foundation recruits and stewards every year. The 
Foundation which was established in 2000 has 
ensured that we can continue to maintain and 
develop our services, buildings and facilities until 
we move to the new children’s hospital.  In this 
regard we look forward to the birth and growth of 
the Children’s Health Foundation, under the CHI 
umbrella, in 2019 and beyond.

Finally I would like to thank the Sisters of Charity 
and Sisters of Mercy for the immeasurable and 
positive impact they have had on Temple Street.  
Our children’s hospital was founded in 1872 by a 
group of charitable people in a house on Upper 
Buckingham Street, D1. In 1876, the Governing 
Committee invited the Sisters of Charity to take 
over the running of the hospital and then in 1897, 
the hospital moved to Temple Street, eventually 
under the auspices of the Sisters of Mercy. Over 
the last 147 years the Sisters have worked with us 
to educate us on how to care for the sick with 
kindness, compassion and professionalism and 
how to continuously strive to promote the 
highest quality of care for all in a friendly, open 
and encouraging environment.  
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So as we look back on 2018 and the rich 147 years before it and find ourselves in the midst of exciting 
developments for children’s health in Ireland, we have a strengthened sense of enthusiasm and drive. 
Temple Street has always stood proud as an pioneer in children’s healthcare and we would like to bring 
that skill and spirit with us as we unite with our colleagues across CHI and across regional paediatric care 
services and as we prepare to transition to the new children’s hospital in 2023 to offer even more 
enhanced children’s healthcare across Ireland. 

Sean Sheehan 
Chairman



TSCUH
GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURES

ORGANISATIONAL 
STRUCTURE

MEMBERS

TSCUH

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chair: Mr Sean Sheehan

Executive 
Management 
Committee

Medical
Board

Mission 
Effectiveness 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Audit 

Committee
Finance 

Committee
Ethics & 
Research 

Committee

Internal 
Audit

Academic 
Committee

Quality & 
Safety 
Board

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
Mater Misericordiae Children's 

University Hospital

Quality & Safety Board:
previously known as Governance, Quality & Patient Safety Committee
Quality & Safety Executive:
previously known as Clinical Governance Committee
Quality & Safety Committee:
previously known as Quality & Risk Committee

Organisational structure is subject to change on an ongoing basis to reflect changing nature of 
healthcare delivery in TSCUH
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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TSCUH
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr John Caird 
Consultant Paediatric 

Neurosurgeon and 
Chairman, Medical 

Committee

 

Sean Sheehan
Chairperson

Mona Baker
Chief Executive

Siobhan Brady
Deputy Chairperson

Grainne Bauer
Director of Nursing

John Fitzpatrick
Finance Director

Mary Cullen

Fionn MacCumhaill

Derek McGrath

Dr Gavin Lavery

Aveen Murray

Sr Margherita Rock
RIP 29th July 2019

Dr. Michael Drumm
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SECTION

ONE

in-patient 
admissions

15,235

attendances 
(including 47,131 

new attendances)

49,722 ED

OPD clinics
13,101

Consultant led 
OPD clinics

5,386

Non-Consultant/ 
NCHD led OPD 

clinics

6,265



NURSING DEPARTMENT
SECTION I

Friday 27th March marked the annual graduation 
ceremony at Temple Street whereby 22 nurses 
graduated from the B.Sc. in Children’s and 
General Nursing and 33 nurses graduated from 
the Higher Diploma in Children’s Nursing. The 
Gold badge for outstanding academic and clinical 
excellence was awarded to Gemma Meehan from 
the B.Sc. group and to Joleen Clarke from the 
Higher Diploma group. 

Other presentations focusing on research 
conducted by nurses in TSCUH, OLCHC and NCH 
Tallaght included’ 

‘Isolated’ Cleft Palate – Seeing the Full 
Picture

Developing a National Suite of Children’s 
Quality Care-Metrics using Consensus 
Methodology.

The Existence of Burnout among Paediatric 
Intensive Care Nurses in an Irish Paediatric 
Hospital.

Developing and Standardising Transition 
Services in Epilepsy Care – A Coordinated 
Approach.

Living between the extraordinary and the 
ordinary- a hermeneutic phenomenological 
study of being a parent to a child dependent 
on medical technology at home.

Social care needs of children with an 
acquired brain injury (ABI) and their family: 
An integrative review

Update on Centre for Children’s Nurse 
Education (CCNE)  

The 8th Annual Nursing Research Conference, 
titled ‘Transforming Children’s Nursing Practice 
through Innovation, Research and Quality 
Improvement’ took place on Thursday 20th March 
in St George’s Hall. The well-attended conference 
comprised an opening address by Grainne Bauer, 
Director of Nursing. 

The keynote address was delivered by Professor 
Veronica Swallow, Chair in Child and Family 
Health, University of Leeds and it was titled ‘From 
Practice to Research and Back Again: Working 
with Families and Staff to Design Complex Digital 
Interventions for Self-managing Childhood Long-
term Conditions’ In January 2018 a pilot study regarding the 

introduction of NLD was undertaken 
collaboratively between nursing, general 
paediatrics and the ED. The pilot study involved 
patients with gastroenteritis and hoped to 
establish whether NLD could decrease delays in 
patient discharge through a reduction in the time 
spent waiting for a medical review before going 
home. 

ANNUAL GRADUATION CEREMONY

NURSING RESEARCH CONFERENCE

PILOT STUDY ON THE 
INTRODUCTION OF NURSE LED 
DISCHARGE (NLD) IN THE ED
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13 patients were discharged using NLD during the 
pilot study and time waiting for discharge was 
reduced from an average of 120 minutes to 85 
minutes per patient. 

The success of the pilot has resulted in continued 
use of NLD and the introduction of further studies 
on this improved practice for additional 
conditions. Ultimately, the aim is to establish NLD 
for appropriate conditions so that we can 
continue to improve patient care and experience.

Oxygen/carbon dioxide capnography studies are 
carried out overnight whilst the patient sleeps. 
These  studies are an assessment of the patient’s 
respiratory status and detail whether Non-
invasive Ventilation (NIV) is necessary in the 
patient’s management, or to titrate the patient’s 
NIV therapy.  

The Overnight Oxygen/Carbon Dioxide six week 
initiative was piloted successfully during Summer 
2018, through a new way of working.  During this 
initiative patients were pre-assessed and pre- 
admitted in Respiratory OPD, taken to the 
allocated ward and the investigation was carried 
out with minimal interruptions, to aid a restful 
night sleep for effective recordings.  The patients 
were then discharged at or before 07:30 the 
following morning and followed up in Respiratory 
OPD, once tests had been downloaded and signed 
off by the Physiologist and Respiratory 
Consultant.  

The initiative had a positive impact on the waiting 
list and once ceased, patients once again faced 
cancellations, as Winter demand increased.  This 
demonstrated the waiting list will continue to 
grow without developing this new way of working 
pathway.

% Strongly Agree / Agree

Our old Neurology Unit was converted into and 
opened as a Discharge Lounge from November 
2018.  Up to eight patients were transferred to the 
Department every morning in preparation for 
discharge home later that day. 

Between November 2018 and March 2019 just 
over 600 patients attended the Discharge Lounge. 
This movement of patients resulted in the 
availability of in-patient beds to those children 
who are waiting on admission from the ED or for 
a planned procedure that day resulting in 
decreased waiting times in ED. The movement 
also prevents the cancellation of planned 
admissions. 

The Discharge Lounge also has the support of a 
Transfer Team to assist with the movement of 
patients between Departments. The Transfer 
Team comprises two HCAs (Healthcare Assistants) 
who carry out the physical transferring of 
patients to and from Departments. In a 10 week 
period a total of 375 patient transfers were 
completed by the transfer team, and over 71% of 
nursing staff found the team to be beneficial to 
patients and the ward. 

DISCHARGE LOUNGE AND DOSA 
(DAY OF SURGERY ADMISSION)

OVERNIGHT OXYGEN / CARBON 
DIOXIDE STUDY – 2018 SUMMER 
INITIATIVE

Parental/Patient Satisfaction Survey
My child was left 

to sleep 
overnight with 

minimal 
interruptions

I found the 
process easy for 

my child and 
myself

100%

50%

0%
I was happy with 
attending OPD 
prior to ward

I was happy with 
the environment

I felt confident to 
take my child 
home without 

review

Care expectation 
set out

I was happy with 
discharge before 

7:30
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47 patients were admitted during the six week 
initiative. 53% had normal studies and 28% had 
abnormal studies that required admissions and 
further investigations.  From a patient and 
parental prospective, 98% of parents found this 
admission pathway easy for themselves and their 
child.

Over the years the PICC line service has 
developed to cover different patient groups 
including;

The IV Team is involved in the Vascular Access 
Group which is, in turn, involved in standardising 
the care of all IV access in Temple Street.
 
This includes use of audit to determine that 
standards are being adhered to in Temple Street.

Temple Street’s IV team deliver specialised care in 
the placement of both intravenous cannulation 
and PICC (Peripherally Inserted Central Catheter).  
The Intravenous Nursing Team (IV Team) at 
Temple Street is currently staffed by five RCNs /
3.5WTE).These staff members at CNM2 and CMN1 
level dedicated to providing the best practice in 
the specialty of paediatric cannulation.

The PICC service has been developed since 2005 
in the hospital. This service was developed to 
ensure the safe and timely administration of long 
term medications, most frequently TPN (Total 
Parental Nutrition) and antibiotics for all patients 
within the hospital from ‘pre-terms’ to 16 year 
olds. 

Two senior members of the IV team have been 
trained in PICC placement since 2005. In the last 
twelve months we have further developed the 
service and have trained the remaining three 
members of the team to insert PICC lines.  

This offers a seven day PICC service for the 
patients in Temple Street. PICC lines are cost 
effective for the hospital and more beneficial to 
the patient by normalising their hospital 
experience.

IV TEAM DEVELOPMENT  

PICC (PERIPHERALLY INSERTED 
CENTRAL CATHETER) SERVICE 

VASCULAR ACCESS GROUP

In-patients 

Patient discharged home to attend Temple 
Street daily for antibiotic treatment

Patients transferred to local hospital to 
complete treatment  as in-patients

Patients who avail of OPAT (Outpatient 
Antibiotic Therapy) in the community

Patients whose parents administer antibiotics 
(e.g. CF patients )in the community

1. Re-audit of the care and maintenance of PICCs 
in a paediatric acute care setting 

The 2018 audit identified that the introduction of 
VIP Score and Care Bundle has enabled staff 
members to identify PIV complications earlier and 
prevent adverse events. Use of Tegaderm 
Advanced and Easifix to secure PIVCs has 
improved site visibility and has standardised our 
practice in line with national and international 
guidelines for PIVC dressings .17



Overall the standard of care has improved for PIV 
which has enhanced patient care and safety.

2. IV Care Area Tray - Improving Peripheral 
Intravenous Catheter Care.

The 2016 IV Care Audit undertaken in 2016 by the 
IV Team highlighted the need to standardise the 
equipment used in the procedure of cannulation. 

This has made it easier for clinical staff to locate 
and identify the basic equipment used for 
cannulation which can improve health care 
outcomes for the patient. This includes one 
designated IV Care Area tray in each clinical area, 
which should be easily identifiable for both 
nursing and medical staff. The IV Care Area tray 
includes all the necessary equipment required for 
peripheral IV cannulation, therefore providing a 
standardised approach to patient care. 

In 2018, the IV Team was also involved in the 
development of the PIVC Insertion & Maintenance 
Care Bundle and CVAD Documentation.

In 2018, the IV Team provided training in clinical 
care of IV cannulas for students and staff (i.e. an 
IV Study Day and Intern Study Days) to reduce 
adverse events in the area of IV Care.

The IV Team acts as a resource in the clinical area 
for students and staff for both PICC’S and 
cannulas.  The team has developed PICC 
education document for the ward areas so that 
information is available 24hrs a day to deal with 
PICC complications.  

Education
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PATIENT & CLINICAL SERVICES
SECTION I

In February 2018, we announced that 72% of our 
staff had availed of the flu vaccination during our 
2017/ 2018 #BeInFLUential campaign so we had 
hit our target of 70% uptake providing protection 
against the flu for ourselves, colleagues, family, 
friends and most importantly our young patients.

In February 2018, we unveiled our new Renal (The 
Gill Unit) and Neurology (The King Unit) OPD 
which offers superior clinical facilities, bright and 
spacious waiting rooms and patient play areas. 
This new OPD is catering for over 6,500 children 
who attend Temple Street every year. 

In October 2018, we organised a day long national 
Symposium titled ‘Celebrating 10 years of 
neurosurgery at Temple Street’ with a 
programme that comprised 13 clinicians/ 
speakers involved in the care and treatment of 
children requiring neurosurgery and 190 
delegates attended this Symposium. At the 
Symposium we announced that over 5,000 
neurosurgical procedures were conducted over 
the last ten years in children aged 0 – 16 years at 
our Department of Paediatric Neurosurgery.

2017/2018 FLU VACCINATION UPTAKE

NEW RENAL AND NEUROLOGY OPD

NATIONAL NEUROSURGICAL 
SYMPOSIUM
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There are over 16,000 HSCPs including 25 
different professional groups in the HSE who 
provide a broad range of services and 
interventions and HSCPs are expected to account 
for one quarter of the workforce in the new 
children’s hospital.

Approximately 20% of the Temple Street 
workforce are HSCPs and that is a total of 261 
staff members/ 213 WTEs. 

So for the second year in a row, the HSCPs in 
Temple Street marked national HSCP Day on 1st 
February 2019 to highlight the role of the HSCPs 
in each of the above Departments in the hospital, 
the members of each team and how they operate 
on a day to day basis in partnership with other 
disciplines. This awareness event was very well 
attended and is a welcome event on the Temple 
Street calendar. 

The HSCP’s in Temple Street work in the 
following Departments;

Audiology 
Chaplaincy 
Cleft Clinical Services 
Coordinator 
Clinical Engineering 
Clinical Nutrition and 
Dietetics 
Clinical Photography 
Craniofacial Services 
Coordinator
Laboratory 
Medical Physics 
Medical Social Work 

Mental Health Social 
Work 
Neurophysiology 
Occupational 
Therapy 
Orthoptics 
Pharmacy 
Physiotherapy 
Play Department
Psychology 
Radiographer 
Speech and 
Language Therapy 
(SLT) 
W82GO Team

In September 2017, Mr Connor Green, Consultant 
Paediatric Orthopaedic Surgeon, Temple Street 
carried out a new hip transplant procedure on a 
12 year old boy from Galway, using a donor 
femoral head bone and cartilage. Mr Green 
learned how to do the Osteochondral Femoral 
Head Allograft transplantation (OFHAT) surgery 
while training at a children’s hospital 
in Dallas, Texas.

In January 2018, we announced that ‘Children 
First Guidance’ had been introduced on a 
statutory basis and that the HSE ‘Children First’ 
training was now mandatory for all clinical and 
non-clinical staff. By Dec 2018, following an 
intense internal communications campaign to 
highlight that protecting children from harm is 
everybody’s responsibility, 91% of our staff had 
undertaken the training.

FIRST HIP JOINT TRANSPLANT

CHILDREN FIRST TRAINING

HSCP DAY 2019
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in-patients from 
D9, D11, D13, 
D15 and D17

1,545

Nurse led 
OPD clinics

1,456
in-patients 
from D1, D3, 
D5 and D7

713

in-patients from 
Dublin North 

City and County

748

SECTION

TWO



HUMAN RESOURCES
SECTION II

Although 2018 was yet another challenging year, 
the HR Department is proud to have continued to 
deliver a high standard of service to internal and 
external stakeholders.  It was also a significant 
year as an organization as we prepared for 
Commencement and transfer to one single, legal 
entity on 1st January 2019. 

The year saw a varied and increased number of 
national and statutory public service related 
projects requiring HR management in addition to 
the business as usual and Transition agenda 
workload. The Department also continued to 
support the HR Project Office (NCH) on all matters 
with particular focus on resourcing and 
recruitment.

A key project was the preparation for 
Commencement and the transfer of legal entity 
from Temple Street to Children’s Health Ireland 
(CHI) on 1st January 2019 whereby the 
Department participated in due diligence in 
preparation for the change.  

In addition and in conjunction with CHI, HR led 
out on the Commencement related 
communication work that was required providing 
individual staff notification letters and the 
technical transfer of data. The transfer took place 
smoothly from the technical and people 
perspectives and employees were transferred to 
the new entity supported by a robust internal 
information and communications campaign. 

Significant work was completed by the HR 
Departments in the three children’s hospitals and 
Union representative bodies, as representatives 
on the HR Cross Site Employee Relations Steering 
Group (NCH HR Programme). 

The first new cross site employee contract was 
developed along with key HR policies. This 
marked the first key formal collaborative work 
undertaken by the Group which ensured that 
appropriate standardised contracts were in place 
to support CHI appointments from 1st January 
2019 and the opening of CHI at Connolly. 

The HR Department responded to and supported 
the increasing activities associated with 
Transition and planning of services for CHI at 
Connolly and service integration.  

The HR service model was further developed with 
the appointment of a new Operations Manager 
role June 2018 with a focus on employee 
relations. An integrated approach to HR services 
delivery to include nursing and medical HR 
services was further strengthened through the HR 
Business Partnering and Specialist model. The HR 
Business Analytics function was also further 
expanded to drive a central repository for HR 
data analytics and standardised reporting.  

The HR Talent Learning and Development 
Manager led out on Transition and Talent 
strategies alongside facilitating the delivery of 
staff training and development programmes. 

Externally facilitated Management Development 
Programmes were delivered in addition to in-
house HR training around the areas of managing 
attendance, interview skills training, Personal 
Development Planning (PDP’s) and training needs 
analysis.  Staff continued to avail of on-line 
management training programmes, specialist 
training skill courses, Master’s Degree and 
Diploma courses in addition to conference and 
workshop updates.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2018 HR STANDARDISATION

HR SERVICE DESIGN AND 
DEVELOPMENTS

COMMENCEMENT
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The HR Director and team participated in on-
going Transition and People and Culture planning 
and working groups in preparation for the 
transition of services. Areas of focus included; 
Organisation Design, Workforce Planning and 
Design, Organisation Development and Employee 
Relations. The HR Director also participated in 
Cross Site Executive groups.

The Department also worked closely with CHG 
Programme Leads and cross hospital HR 
colleagues in developing and delivering staff 
information sessions in relation to 
Commencement and promoting the ‘On the Move 
Together’ Strategic Working Group and All Staff 
change initiatives.  

Development of a GDPR policy and 
guidelines for HR application on same

PAYE Modernisation – supporting 
development of our payroll system to 
integrate with Rrevenue On-line Services 
(ROS)

Ensuring safety of our patients and staff 
during two significant weather alerts namely 
Storm Emma and Storm Ophelia (end Feb / 
early Mar) and ensuing appropriate 
management of the days off granted to 
employees

On-going Clinical Directorate mapping and 
meetings throughout the year through our 
internal LIG designing and formatting 
structures before moving to a central 
committee in CHI

Implementation of key HSE circulars that 
support and provide HR guidelines and 
practice on employee matters that are 
relevant to key policies and procedures in 
particular enhanced Critical Illness protocols 
and leave associated with Premature births

Led on the HSE Employee Survey 2018

The HR Department supported further 
requirements relating to the implementation 
of the Children’s First Act (2015) with 91% 
compliance in child protection on-line 
training achieved at December 2018

Garda Vetting compliance - The HR 
Department finalised Phase One of the Garda 
Vetting project achieving a 100% compliance 
requiring all employees to be are Garda 
vetted. This was achieved in advance of the 
compliance deadline of April 2018

Staff absenteeism levels recorded at average 
3.69% (national target 3.5%

Contract to Softworks for e-Rostering and 
Time & Attendance Project to commence 
2019.

Maternity Leave extended for Premature 
births backdated to late 2017 – 
retrospectively applied to employees

DPER Sick Leave changes for Critical Illness 
Protocol enhancing entitlement to 
employees from 31/03/2018

Developing standardised Business 
Analytics reports, including HSE employee 
census, PMR workforce reports (now CHI 
Executive) and amalgamating workforce 
reports through CHI with Crumlin and 
Tallaght

KEY OPERATIONAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS 
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Programmes delivered included ‘Catch Up and 
Care’ staff supports, resilience, self- care, 
mindfulness and Critical Incident Stress 
Management

Responding to the fact that we are working in an 
increasingly complex work environment, a suite 
of programmes was offered to promote positive 
work behaviours, psychological wellbeing and 
work life balance. 

Schwartz Rounds sessions grew from strength to 
strength throughout the year. The sessions 
provide a forum for staff across a wide spectrum 
of disciplines to share experiences both positive 
and negative that have had a lasting impact on 
them both professionally and personally and to 
draw on colleague support through discussion 
and feedback. The generosity and honesty of the 
panellists was greatly appreciated and we look 
forward to continuation of this forum in 2019

The Staff Support group continued to work on 
ways to support and equip staff with the tools to 
deal with challenging behaviours, critical 
incidents and other workplace challenges.

Maintaining staffing levels has not been without 
its challenges and the Department has worked 
closely with all stakeholders to meet the 
hospital’s ever increasing resourcing demands.  In 
2018, there was a continued increase in 
recruitment activity associated with new service 
developments, CHI programme posts and the 
backfill requirements for staff  who assumed 
programme positions.  

The Departments’ Balanced Scorecard reported 
an increase of 50 WTE (approx.) in employment 
levels for the period December 2017 to December 
2018 with an average turnover rate of 9.9% . This 
is largely explained due to staff taking up 
positions supporting CHI projects, programme 
staff employed by Temple Street and new service 
development posts.  Key new service 
development posts included Urology, Spina Bifida, 
Orthopaedics, Chemical Pathology, Radiology, 
Dermatology and ENT. 

In order to continue our ethos of supporting staff 
and promoting Staff Health & Wellbeing, on-going 
support initiatives were undertaken throughout 
2018 and were delivered through Occupational 
Health Services and the Health Promotion Co-
ordinator

STAFFING LEVELS

STAFF SUPPORT AND 
RECOGNITION  
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Individual Non Clinical Award 

Team Non- Clinical Award

Individual Clinical Award

Team Clinical Award

CEO Award

David Donegan - Maintenance 
Lavelinda Oglinzeanu  - St Michael’s C Ward

Catering & Household Team 

Sabrina Shanahan – Opthalomology

Top Flat

Grainne Bauer 
Director of Nursing 

To publically acknowledge and recognise our ‘Everyday Heroes’ and staff who went that ‘extra mile’ our 
‘Extraordinary Annual Awards Ceremony’ took place on the 7th December 2018. 

This was a particularly special event in that it marked the last Temple Street Hospital recognition event 
before our change to CHI in January 2019. Mr Sean Sheehan, Board Chair, presented the awards.  Staff 
who received these awards in 2018 included;

EXTRAORDINARY AWARDS CEREMONY
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & QUALITY
SECTION II

After the 11th series, RTE’s Operation 
Transformation is a show that as a nation, we 
have all come to know, admire and follow and by 
doing so we have made significant improvements 
to our health.

We have also come to learn that Operation 
Transformation is not just about weight-loss, it’s 
also about our long-term health, and as 
the saying goes ‘your health is your wealth’.

Operation Transformation encourages us to look 
seriously at the positive changes we can make to 
our lives, by making changes to our diet and 
exercise routines. The programme highlights the 
ways in which we can improve our health 
chances, by looking at what we do now, in terms 
of diet and physical and mental exercise, which 
can truly help us to live longer, healthier lives.

In this regard representatives from the OHD, 
Facilities, Catering Teams and Communications 
Teams in Temple Street came together in 
November 2018 to formulate a partnership with 
RTE’s 2019 Operation Transformation and to run a 
dedicated Operation Transformation campaign in 
Temple Street.

The first step in running this campaign was to find 
a Temple Street Operation Transformation (OT) 
Leader and so we issued an invite to all staff to 
consider applying to be leader, via an on-line 
confidential application form.

On review of the application forms we felt that we 
had two very strong potential leaders; Terry 
Lynch, ICT Support, ICT Department and Aoife 
Glancy Carey, HCA, Neurology Department and 
we were delighted to announce this selection to 
the wider staff base. We also advised staff on the 
reason that Terry and Aoife had applied to be OT 
Leaders in Temple Street, what the leader role 
would entail and what Terry and Aoife had 
committed to undertaking during the course of 
the eight week programme, which would run 
from Wed 9th January to Wed 6th February 2020. 

By the end of 2018, representatives from the 
OHD, Facilities, Catering Teams and 
Communications Teams had also worked on and 
issued an invitation to all staff to form Operation 
Transformation teams. Members of these Teams 
were invited to participate in a weekly weigh-in, 
follow specific menu options in the Temple Café, 
follow an exercise regime and attend lunchtime 
health promotional sessions during the eight 
week programme.

The essence of the inaugural Operation 
Transformation campaign in Temple Street, is to 
highlight that Temple Street supports our staff in 
looking seriously at positive changes we can all 
make to help us live longer, healthier lives.

OPERATION TRANSFORMATION AT 
TEMPLE STREET

Bringing the Board of Directors on Board with 
Quality and Safety of Clinical Care

On Tues 28th August 2018, Temple Street in 
partnership with the HSE Quality Improvement 
Division (QID) launched a CASE-STUDY & TOOLKIT 
titled 'Bringing the Board of Directors on Board 
with Quality and Safety of Clinical Care’ to guide 
Boards in strengthening quality of care. Please 
see https://www.cuh.ie/who-we-are/board-
directors/board-on-board/

QUALITY DEPARTMENT 
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The Case study and Toolkit focuses on Temple 
Street’s Board of Directors and outlines how this 
Board has changed the way it does business, and 
rebalanced its agenda over a two year period to 
give prominence to quality of care, ensuring 
oversight and continuous improvement and 
essentially delivering on a ‘real world successful 
Board in action.’ 

Speaking on the rationale for the compilation and 
publication of this comprehensive and innovative 
text, Mona Baker, CEO, Temple Street Children’s 
University Hospital said “national and 
international inquiries into patient care present 
indisputable evidence that Boards that have 
expert and dedicated leadership at both Board 
and Executive level have to focus on quality and 
improving patient safety. We are now intent on 
sharing recommendations arising from this 
Temple Street and HSE QID case-study and toolkit 
with other Boards across the healthcare sector to 
assist in strengthening their roles in improving 
quality of care.”

Board and project liaison researcher attends 
the monthly board meetings, observes the 
reaction of the Board discussions and reports 
back to the project team for the project life 
time

Develop a Board of Directors’ Quality 
Dashboard and test it over time

The recommendations arising from the 
'Bringing the Board of Directors on Board with 
Quality and Safety of Clinical Care’ case-study 
and toolkit include the following; 

Provide the Board with an educational session 
and targeted reading

Provide the Board with a cover letter that 
includes instructions for each month

Move quality and safety to the top of the 
board agenda and make it the first item of the 
meeting

Group all items relating to quality and 
safety under this agenda item

Time the discussion of all items under the 
quality and safety heading of the agenda

Ask a different individual board member (or 
two) to comment on the Board of Directors’ 
Quality Dashboard each month

Include recommendations from the Board in 
relation to the Quality Dashboard, in board 
minute action logs which are reviewed at 
subsequent meetings

Develop a Board of Directors written report 
and test it over time

Present and analyse quality indicators using 
statistical process control methodology

Present the written report for consideration by 
the Board at their monthly meeting.
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ICT DEPARTMENT
SECTION II

Throughout 2018, the Clinical Informatics Team 
delivered a number of key pieces of functionality 
through the Clinical Portal which have enhanced 
the delivery of patient care.  These include the 
presentation of real-time waiting list information, 
speciality clinical letters, PICU Discharge 
Summaries and display of blood transfusion 
alerts in the patient’s context.  

The support of new online resources such as 
Medusa, Red Book and Paediatric Care Online has 
ensured the growth of the Clinical Portal as one of 
the central sources of patient information used 
by Temple Street’s clinical teams to deliver care 
both onsite and remotely.  Clinical Portal 
adoption, adaption and integration continues to 
increase month on month.  

The Clinical Portal project was also shortlisted in 
‘Healthcare Initiative - Best Use of Information 
Technology’ category Irish Healthcare Centre 
Awards 2018.
http://irishhealthcarecentreawards.com 

The Diabetes Care Pathway won the ‘Best Use of 
Information Technology’ at the prestigious Irish 
Healthcare Awards 2018. 

The Diabetes Pathway is a 
bespoke intuitive design 
which has been built 
within the framework of 
Temple Street’s EPR 
(Electronic Patient Record), 
the Clinical Portal.  The 
Diabetes Care Pathway is 
designed in partnership 
with the Diabetes MDT to 
address care in an area of 
chronic disease and is the 
first in-house clinically led 
Temple Street initiative of 
this nature. 

The Diabetes Care Pathway was presented at the 
annual Health Informatics Society of Ireland (HISI) 
Conference 2018 by Jennifer Doyle, Clinical 
Informatics Manager.  

Working in partnership with the PICU MDT, the 
Pharmacy and Clinical Engineering Departments 
and the wider ICT Department, the Clinical 
Informatics Team completed a successful 
upgrade of the PICU Clinical Information System; 
ICIP in June 2018.  The automated communication 
of patient discharge information to Healthlinks 
and Clinical Portal was facilitated as part of the 
upgrade.  

The ICT Trainer works closely with the Clinical 
Informatics Team in delivering tailored training 
on Clinical Portal functionality to the Clinical and 
Operational Teams.  Bespoke training of this 
nature supports the MDTs to embrace the 
technology delivered and new ways of working to 
improve patient outcomes.

Tailored process driven training and coaching on 
ORMIS was designed and delivered to OT Clinical 
Staff.  This initiative has resulted in measurable 
improvements in data quality, data ownership 
and understanding the correct workflow process 
to follow.

iPIMS training was designed and delivered to 
clinical, HSCP and administrative staff using a 
variety of communication methods. The impact of 
this training has result in visibility of workflow 
and raised awareness throughout Temple Street 
of the importance of ensuring excellent data 
quality. 

CLINICAL PORTAL

THE DIABETES CARE PATHWAY

PICU UPGRADE

TRAINING

Clinical Infomatics 
Key Achievements 2018
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ICT DEPARTMENT
SECTION II

Throughout 2018, the Clinical Informatics Team 
delivered a number of key pieces of functionality 
through the Clinical Portal which have enhanced 
the delivery of patient care.  These include the 
presentation of real-time waiting list information, 
speciality clinical letters, PICU Discharge 
Summaries and display of blood transfusion 
alerts in the patient’s context.  

The support of new online resources such as 
Medusa, Red Book and Paediatric Care Online has 
ensured the growth of the Clinical Portal as one of 
the central sources of patient information used 
by Temple Street’s clinical teams to deliver care 
both onsite and remotely.  Clinical Portal 
adoption, adaption and integration continues to 
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The Clinical Portal project was also shortlisted in 
‘Healthcare Initiative - Best Use of Information 
Technology’ category Irish Healthcare Centre 
Awards 2018.
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The Diabetes Care Pathway won the ‘Best Use of 
Information Technology’ at the prestigious Irish 
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within the framework of 
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Conference 2018 by Jennifer Doyle, Clinical 
Informatics Manager.  

Working in partnership with the PICU MDT, the 
Pharmacy and Clinical Engineering Departments 
and the wider ICT Department, the Clinical 
Informatics Team completed a successful 
upgrade of the PICU Clinical Information System; 
ICIP in June 2018.  The automated communication 
of patient discharge information to Healthlinks 
and Clinical Portal was facilitated as part of the 
upgrade.  

The ICT Trainer works closely with the Clinical 
Informatics Team in delivering tailored training 
on Clinical Portal functionality to the Clinical and 
Operational Teams.  Bespoke training of this 
nature supports the MDTs to embrace the 
technology delivered and new ways of working to 
improve patient outcomes.

Tailored process driven training and coaching on 
ORMIS was designed and delivered to OT Clinical 
Staff.  This initiative has resulted in measurable 
improvements in data quality, data ownership 
and understanding the correct workflow process 
to follow.

iPIMS training was designed and delivered to 
clinical, HSCP and administrative staff using a 
variety of communication methods. The impact of 
this training has result in visibility of workflow 
and raised awareness throughout Temple Street 
of the importance of ensuring excellent data 
quality. 

CLINICAL PORTAL

THE DIABETES CARE PATHWAY

PICU UPGRADE

TRAINING

Clinical Infomatics 
Key Achievements 2018

The Business intelligence Unit has developed an 
intuitive and comprehensive tool which enables 
the display of clinical information from diverse 
departmental systems in the Clinical Portal in real 
time.  

This initiative has reduced the dependency on 
busy Clinical and Operational Departments to 
print and distribute paper reports. As such 
Docuport has placed critical clinical information 
directly into the hands of the MDTs to enable the 
delivery of safe and effective patient care.  This 
generic solution can be adapted to multiple 
clinical workflows and will be rolled out 
throughout 2019. 

A scanning solution to enable the electronic 
display of handwritten reports in the Clinical 
Portal was developed by the Business intelligence 
Unit.  Temple Street staff can now scan patient 
reports directly into the patient’s record on the 
Clinical Portal.  This in turn allows users across 
Temple Street to view the scanned reports in the 
context of all the valuable information which is 
available in the Clinical Portal.  

This technology was piloted in the Audiology 
Department and this Department now scans 
internal and external Audiology reports directly 
to the Clinical Portal. The document scanning 
solution will be made available to Clinical and 
Operational Departments throughout 2019. 

A texting solution to enable targeted, direct and 
personalised communication with patients, 
parents and guardians was designed and 
developed in partnership with Clinical, 
Operational and Finance Departments.  The 
texting solution can be modified and adapted to a 
variety of requirements and has resulted in 
significant efficiencies across the Hospital. For 
example: 

DOCUPORT

AUDIOLOGY DOCUMENT SCANNING

TEXTING SOLUTION

Business Intellengence 
Key Achievements 2018

The Under 2's Metabolic Texting Solution 
enables the Metabolic  Clinical Team to 
deliver real time, personalised advice and 
education on laboratory results to parents 
and guardians.   This reduces the necessity 
for the Metabolic Team to telephone each 
contact individually.   The ‘Under 2's 
Metabolic Texting’ system has released 
valuable clinical time and had a positive 
impact on patient compliance to treatment 
regimens.

The Occupational Health Texting Solution 
enables the management of patient 
appointments directly from Microsoft 
Outlook calendar.  This solution sends out 
text reminders to designated staff confirming 
upcoming appointments.

The Patient Accounts Texting Solution 
collates a list of patients with outstanding 
invoice accounts on iPIMS and sends an 
automated text message reminder to the 
parent of their outstanding balance. This 
solution has helped to reduce the 
requirement for staff to print and post 
invoice reminders
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A number of web forms have been built by the Business intelligence Unit to enable staff to record and 
report on activity undertaken.  Users are presented with a series of intuitive graphs on the data 
recorded.  Web Forms such as those developed in partnership with the Occupational Therapy 
Department and PEWS Committee has brought visibility and transparency to departmental activities 
and fostered the development of a culture of data ownership.

WEB FORM DEVELOPMENT

ICT Support Key Achievements 2018

The ICT Support Team is essential to the successful delivery of a number of Hospital and 
ICT Projects.  These include: 

In addition to 
resolving over 
11,000 calls 

in 2018…

the ICT Support 
Desk provide 

daily support to 
1,300 mobile 
and landline 
telephones…

six off-site 
campus, 

1,100 PCs…

175 Remote 
Users… and over 300 

Printers

New Outpatients Floors

The relocation of a number of critical clinical 
services including Neurology, 
Neurophysiology Nephrology and Urology in 
March 2018 required significant intervention 
from the ICT Support Desk.  As part of the 
relocation, new printers, telephone and voice 
services were installed. The ICT Support Team 
also ensured all staff were appropriately set 
up on relevant PCs with access to the 
required applications and networks with 
minimal disruption.

New Digital Signage Solution

The ICT Support Team in collaboration with 
the CHIC (Child Health Information 
Coordinator) implemented a new Digital 
Signage Solution across the hospital.  
Replacing 13 devices, the Digital Signage 
solution has enabled the CHIC to customise 
pertinent health information for display in 
key clinical areas.   Health information 
content can be easily updated and deployed 
to multiple devices concurrently.  
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ICU Upgrade and Relocation 

As part of the upgrade of the PICU clinical 
system, the ICT Support Desk completed the 
installation of new software on all of the PCs 
which use ICIP across the Hospital.  This 
process involved the removal of the previous 
version to ensure that the new software 
operated correctly.   

In addition the ICT Support Team played a key 
role in relocating all PICU ICT equipment to a 
temporary location to facilitate renovations 
to the PICU floor.  Once this essential work 
was completed the ICT Support Team moved 
all PICU equipment back to the Unit with 
minimal disruption.

Surface Pro 4 Rollout

30 new Surface Pro 4 devices were rolled out 
to key clinical and operational staff.  These 
devices have enabled users to embrace 
technology and transition to paper light 
working.  

ICU Network Upgrade: In order to minimise 
disruption to this critical area, replace equipment 
and ensure optimum connection to hospital 
systems, the Infrastructure Team dovetailed with 
the PICU floor relocation project and successfully 
completed an upgrade of the PICU network   

New Communications Room: The implementation 
of the new communications room at the top of 
the St. Frances Clinic building has ensured that 
the Hospital has sufficient capacity, greater 
redundancy and the enhanced technology 
required to meet future service requirements.  

In order to ensure that hospital systems and 
staff are sufficiently protected from external 
threats to the network, the Infrastructure Team 
undertook a number of initiatives which have 
raised the profile of good information practices 
throughout 2018.  

Upgrade of anti-virus solution and 
implementation of advanced treat protection 
(ATP). This new solution is the latest technology 
in anti-virus strategies which uses Artificial 
Intelligence to learn the behaviour of individual 
PCs and deploys an appropriate management 
strategy in the event of a threat such as a 
malicious email.

The Infrastructure Team implemented Ctera 
and Encrypted USB keys. These solutions 
enable the secure transfer of sensitive and 
confidential information between hospital sites 
and medical devices respectively.  In the event 
that the Encrypted USB key is lost or stolen, all 
data stored on the device remains secure and 
cannot be accessed. 

Towards the later part of 2018, the 
Infrastructure Team also agreed a series of 
dedicated maintenance schedules with the 
Hospital Executive.  This allowed the Team to 
initiate and roll out a defined plan which will 
ensure that all Hospital servers and PCs are 
protected against future network threats. 

Infastructure
Key Achievements 2018

ICT NETWORK UPGRADES

ICT SECURITY

As part of this project, two communications 
cabinets were relocated from staff areas to the 
new facility, significantly reducing the noise 
levels in areas and enhancing working 
conditions for all.

In addition the Infrastructure Team undertook 
an upgrade of existing server architecture. This 
project has benefitted all clinical and 
operational departments as it provides for 
flexible backups, greater redundancy,smoother 
product deployments, easier upgrades of core 
systems and enhanced monitoring.
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In order to raise awareness of the danger of 
accessing unauthorised emails, the Infrastructure 
Team implemented PHISEME which is a solution 
that trains staff in the essential defence against 
cyber phishing attacks communicated via email.  
Accessing email content of this nature can have 
significant and detrimental impact on the 
reputation of the Hospital.  PHISEME allows the 
Infrastructure Team to simulate typical phishing 
emails and provides staff with education in cyber 
risk and security.

Information Governance (IG) sets a high standard 
for the handling of personal health information.  
All information, including personal information, is 
handled securely, efficiently, effectively and in 
line with legislation. This supports the delivery of 
person-centred, safe, high quality health and 
social care.

The IG Co-ordinator designed and delivered 
bespoke training to approximately 11% of 
hospital staff to raise awareness of GDPR 
(General Data Protection Regulations) and to 
support Information Governance, ensuring that 
the organisation meets both its statutory and its 
legal obligations.  Topics included principles of 
data protection (DP), information security, how to 
manage a data breach and staff responsibilities 
and confidentiality in relation to GDPR.  Training 
was delivered in one to one sessions and to small 
and large groups.  4% of hospital staff completed 
the HSE online Good Information Practices 
course.

Dedicated IG and DP webpages were developed 
on TempleNet. These webpages act as 
repositories of informational and education 
resources about IG and Data Protection. 

In July 2018, Joe Ryan, National Director of 
National Services, inc VIP, GDPR delivered an 
educational session on DP to the CMF 
(Consultative Management Forum). The 
presentation as recorded and the video is 
available as an educational piece on TempleNet.

To ensure that IG initiatives are integrated into 
the core business functions, a Data Breach 
Governance Map was developed.  This data 
breach map informs staff how to manage a data 
breach - in hours, out of hours and how to 
manage a 3rd party data breach.  The data breach 
map is available on the IG page on TempleNet.  
The data breach process is supported by the IG 
Co-ordinator.

PHISEME TRAINING

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE

TRAINING AND AWARENESS
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A ‘GDPR – What you need to know as parents and 
families’ infographic was rolled out.  This is an 
easy to understand infographic for parents and 
families explaining the data subject’s rights, the 
organisation’s obligations and what happens if a 
data breach occurs under GDPR.  The infographic 
is available on the IG page on TempleNet and on 
www.cuh.ie

IG also introduced a Threshold Assessment 
Checklist and a DP Impact Assessment to the 
hospital.  Both forms must be completed where a 
new project, use of new technology or health 
research is being undertaken. This is a legal 
requirement under GDPR.  Both forms are 
available on the IG page on Templenet.

The IG Co-ordiantor presented a poster at the 
2018 ICT Day on 9th October. The poster was 
titled GDPR: Limit, Respect, Protect.

Policies, procedures and processes were reviewed 
and updated to ensure that they complied with 
good IG such as all ICT policies, the DP Policy and 
the CCTV Policy.  The Hospital’s MOUs and Data 
Sharing Agreements were revised and updated.  
This is a continuous piece of work.  

Through training and various meetings via the IG 
Co-ordinator, the hospital now has a better 
understanding now of where and why Consent is 
being used as a legal basis for processing 
personal data.

As our hospital buildings are older, challenges 
exits around DP.  Key areas were identified and 
targeted to improve access control. This project is 
on-going.

POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND 
PROCESSES

PHYSICAL SECURITY

33



Technology was used to as a driver for GDPR 
compliance.  A fax reducing audit was carried out to 
see where, when and why faxes are being used in 
the hospital.  New methods of data transfer was 
implemented such as Ctera.

Two Email encryption solutions were promoted 
across the hospital namely AESCrypt and 
Healthmail. All confidential or restricted 
information transmitted through email to an email 
address outside of the CUH domain (i.e. one that 
does not end in ‘@cuh.ie’) must be encrypted as per 
the ICT Electronic Communications policy.

AESCrypt can be used for sending secure email with 
attachments for example PDF, word, excel to and 
from external mail servers. The email must not 
contain patient identifiable data. AESCrypt is 
available on all hospital PCs.  

Healthmail is a free email secure email system 
managed by the HSE.  When sending an email from 
a cuh domain to a healthmail domain (i.e. @cuh.ie 
to @healthmail.ie) the email is automatically 
encrypted.  Health mail users comprise of GP 
practices and community pharmacies.  A full list of 
Health mail users is available on the TempleNet 
homepage.  

In order to discover the type of data that is being 
held in the hospital an audit was carried out.  To 
progress the project an online audit tool was 
designed. The audit tool had three deliverables

Informed by GDPR principles the IG Lead drove the 
design, the Business Intelligence Unit built the 
artefact and the IG Co-ordinator rolled out the audit 
tool.  Phase 2 of the audit will happen in 2019.

The Research Office was supported in their work as 
they faced particular challenges with the new GDPR 
legislation and the Health Research Regulations.  
This support is on-going.

IT SPECIFIC BOX

RECORD RETENTION

RESEARCH

to show GDPR compliance

to create a central data registry repository and 

to inform a retention policy
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Hello there

I wish to compliment your Staff on the wonderful treatment my 
daughter, Emily Watters, and I received in your Emergency 
Department this morning (27/11/2018). Thankfully we only had a 
brief stay, but from the moment we set foot through the doors of 
the hospital, we were so well looked after.

The Nursing and Medical care we received was of the highest 
standard. We were seen promptly, and I did not notice any other 
attendees having any kind of extended wait.

Dr. Nandini Kandamany took excellent care of us. The Triage 
Nurse, Radiographer and Student Nurses in ED all made my 
daughter feel secure and safe, which made a difficult time so 
much easier for me.

I would like to particularly mention the wonderful work of Staff at 
Reception. The gentleman working at ED reception when we 
registered went above and beyond for us – taking the time to 
walk with me, and separately with my husband to make sure we 
got to the right place. His kindness and professionalism were so 
reassuring and we are very grateful to him for helping us. I was 
given very clear directions to X-ray but in my sleep deprived state 
I was also very grateful to the kind man/porter (wearing a black t-
shirt) who noticed my confused look and walked me to where I 
needed to go.

Thank you to all of your Staff for their hard work. We felt safe and 
reassured from the moment we walked in. My daughter received 
a wonderful standard of care, for which we are very grateful.

Yours sincerely

Anne W and family

THANKYOU...
There is no THANK YOU that is BIG 
enough….Compliments to the 
exceptional and outstanding PICU Team 
from six very grateful and impressed 
parents

Thank you Grainne, Dermot, Michael, 
Ahmed, Fiona, Orna, Lorraine, Genna, 
Cathy, Anne, Anna, Rachel, Martina, 
Sinead, Orlaith, Grainne, Michelle, 
Laura, June, Heike; if we missed 
someone we are truly sorry, you are all 
exceptional people.

There is no thank you Big Enough to 
show how grateful we are in how you all 
treated and tended to our “Kaelan”.  On 
a professional and personal level, you 
are all truly outstanding people. What 
a team you have!

Thanks again so much,

Kelly, Paddy, Baby Kaelan and Big sister 
Lily.

SOME OF THE COMPLIMENTS WE 
RECEIVED DURING 2018…

Thanks for everything you have done 
for our baby Martin Joseph; you have 
been so helpful and kind.

From Martin & Geraldine xxx

Thanks to Sharon in Mona Baker’s 
office, Martina in Temple Cafe (one in a 
million!) and all our staff from a very 
grateful mum whose daughter is 
moving on to Beaumont

Dear Sharon (Kinsella from Mona 
Baker’s office)

Ah thanks so much advising us on how 
to get to Temple Street by Luas. We 
made it in. We got the Green Luas to 
upper O’Connell Street and walked to 
Temple Street.

It was our last visit to Temple Street as 
my daughter is nearly 16 and will be 
linked in with Beaumont Hospital from 
now. A major thank you to all the 
wonderful staff at Temple Street 
especially Martina in the cafè – she’s 
one in a million!

Kind regards

Emma and Zoë
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Compliments to the friendly and efficient team in the Eye 
Clinic from a very impressed mum of a three month old

Hi there

I just wanted to note that I had an appointment in the Eye 
Clinic today and found the service great.

The wait time was very short and as I had a three month 
old, I was allowed to wait in an area away from other 
children.

All the doctors and opticians were lovely, great with my 
son and I found it very efficient.

The check out staff giving the follow up appointment was 
extremely friendly also.

Thanks

Emer (Mum)

Compliments to the fantastic, dedicated 
and kind ED Team from mum, Claire 
(and to the nice nurse from Kerry who 
likes Harry Potter and to Jill to laughed 
at my mum’s jokes!…from Niamh)
Compliments and appreciation to the 
very helpful, friendly and conscientious 
Radiology Team

Good morning, just a quick email to 
compliment your staff regarding a visit I 
had to make to the Radiology 
Department last Friday afternoon 
9th November.

From the beginning the staff members 
were all so helpful and friendly (from 
reception right through to the scan 
itself).

I had my two children with me and one 
nurse kindly held up my phone so my 
younger son could watch a video whilst 
I went in with my older son for his x-ray.

The girl carrying out the x-ray was so 
helpful and conscientious of the fact 
that my younger son was outside. She 
explained everything clearly to Adam 
who was getting the x-ray and he never 
felt uneasy at all.

We were also in and out of the hospital 
in a really good time.

Anyway I just wanted to pass on my 
appreciation!

Kind regards,

Edel (Mum)

Dear Ursula 

Thank you so much for all your help. 
Temple Street is extremely lucky to have 
you working with them. 

I greatly appreciate all your help. 

I’m delighted with the outcome and care 
that Sarah received thanks again 

From a very grateful mum

Hi there

My daughter Abaigh  has just finished her course of 
Physiotherapy at your clinic this week. I just wished 
to express my gratitude for the excellent service that 
she received while in your care.

Abaigh’s  Physiotherapist Zita always dealt with 
Abaigh in a caring and professional manner and she 
has enjoyed a significant improvement in the mobility 
of her arm since her first visit.

Thanks again.

Padraig

The wonderfully kind and gentle 
PICU Team made us feel more in 
control of the scary situation we 
were in. Thank you

To the wonderful staff in the 
Temple Street PICU

Thank you!

To all PICU staff, you saved Kuba’s life 
every time you could and cared for him 
with kindness for which I am very 
thankful.  Thank you and God bless you 
all.

From Anna (Kuba’s mum) & Dominike

Kind
Regards
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The directors present their annual report and audited financial statements for the financial year ending 31st December 2018.

In considering the report, it should be noted that Children’s University Hospital DAC (“Children’s University Hospital”, the “Company” 
or “the Hospital”) ceased operations at midnight on 31st December 2018. This followed the enactment on 20th November 2018 
of the Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018). This Act provided for the establishment of a new legal entity, Children’s Health 
Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently provided by Dublin’s three children’s hospitals, and, to ultimately run the 
new children’s hospital in due course. Further details are given elsewhere in this report and in the body of the financial statements.
  
Arising from the above, it is the intent of the directors of Children’s University Hospital to sign a declaration of solvency and 
commence a members’ voluntary liquidation in respect of this company on 31st May 2019. Thus, the content of the report should 
be considered in this regard. 

1.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Company Structure

Children’s University Hospital DAC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mater Misericordiae and The Children’s University Hospitals 
CLG (“MMCUH”), a holding company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital. The Holding Company is also the parent 
of the Mater Misericordiae University Hospital DAC and The Cappagh National Orthopaedic Hospital DAC. The company is a 
registered charity and has been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue Commissioners. The majority of the members of 
the parent company are Sisters of Mercy.

Code of Governance

A Code of Governance for Children’s University Hospital was in place for the entire year. The Code, which was available on the 
hospital website, was periodically reviewed and updated to reflect prescribed and best practice governance arrangements.

Appointment of Directors

The Chairperson of the company was appointed by MMCUH. The full Board comprised of 4 executive directors and 9 non-
executive directors. The executive directors included the Chief Executive, the Chairperson of the Medical Board, the Director of 
Nursing and the Finance Director. The 9 non-executive directors included representatives from the religious, medical, business 
and fundraising communities. 

An induction process for all new board members was in place. The company secretary provided the support to the board members 
and was available to deal with any matters on a formal and informal basis.  All directors had access to independent professional 
advice, at the company’s expense, as and when required.

The current directors and secretary of the company are set out on page 2 and have served throughout the financial year except 
where noted below: 

- Mr. J. Caird, Chairperson of Medical Board, resigned as an executive director on 23rd November 2018). This position on 
the Board remained vacant at 31st December 2018.

It is expected that all directors will resign on 31st May 2019 following the approval of these financial statements and the appointment 
of a liquidator, as referred above.

CHILDREN’S UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL DAC 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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1.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in Shares

Neither the directors nor the company secretary who held office at the beginning and end of the financial year had any direct or 
indirect interest in the share capital of the company or any other group company.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

With the exception of contracts of employment for executive directors, there were no contracts or arrangements in relation to 
the company’s business in which the Directors or Secretary of the company had any interest.

Directors’ Compliance Statement

As required by Section 225 of the Companies Act 2014, the directors acknowledge that the directors are responsible for securing 
the company’s compliance with its relevant obligations; and

The directors confirm that the directors commenced the following three procedures in order to comply with the directors’ ob-
ligations:

• The drawing up of a “compliance policy statement” setting out the company’s policies that, in the directors’ opinion, are 
appropriate to the company, and respecting compliance by the company with its relevant obligations; 

• The putting in place of appropriate arrangements or structures that are, in the directors’ opinion, designed to secure ma-
terial compliance with the company’s relevant obligations; and 

• Reviewing of any arrangements or structures that are in place or being put in place.

Organisational Management

The Board of Directors are legally responsible for the overall control and management of the company.  Prior to cessation of 
operations on 31st December 2018, they met eleven times annually. The Board was supported by a number of sub-committees 
including the Group Nominations Committee, the Executive Management Committee, the Quality and Safety Board, the Mission 
Effectiveness Committee, the Audit Committee, the Finance Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Ethics Research 
Committee. 

A formal schedule of matters reserved for Board approval was in place and was reviewed on an annual basis. 

Subject to these reserved matters, the Board delegated the management of the day-to-day operation of the Hospital and the 
implementation of Board policy and strategy to the Chief Executive. The Hospital Executive Management Committee, chaired by 
the Chief Executive and consisting of the key senior executives, was the main day to day decision making forum of the Hospital. 
Its work was supported by the Medical Board, Nursing Executive, Corporate Management Team and other specific committees 
as required.

Risk Management

The Board had responsibility for the identification and evaluation of significant risks, together with design and operation of 
suitable internal control systems.

In order to discharge that responsibility in a manner which ensured compliance with legislation and regulations, the Board 
established an organisational structure with clear operating and reporting lines, secured the services of appropriately qualified 
personnel, designed suitable lines of responsibility, put in place appropriate authorisation limits, made arrangements in respect of 
segregation of duties and delegated the necessary authority for decision making.

The Quality and Safety Board was a sub-committee of the Board of Directors and assisted the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
in ensuring that high standards of care were provided and that adequate and appropriate governance structures, processes and 
controls were in place throughout the Hospital, to ensure the safety of children and guardians attending the Hospital and staff 
providing the services. 

CHILDREN’S UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL DAC 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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1.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

Risk Management (Continued)

The Quality and Safety Executive was a multidisciplinary Committee and was chaired by the Clinical Director who reported 
upwards to the Quality and Safety Board. The role of the Committee was to develop, deliver, implement and evaluate a robust 
quality and safety programme with associated structures, processes and oversight to manage risks and improve quality and safety 
throughout the Hospital. The work of this Committee was supported by a number of sub-committees (e.g. Quality and Safety 
Committee, Infection Prevention and Control, Drugs and Therapeutics etc.) and services and departments (Nursing, Anaesthesia, 
Quality and Standards, Risk Management etc.).

The organisational Corporate Risk Register was reviewed on a quarterly basis by a sub-group of the Quality and Safety Executive, 
before being submitted to the Board. The Quality, Risk and Safety performance indicators were submitted to the Board as part 
of the monthly performance report. The Executive Management Committee monitored progress and reported to the Board in 
relation to the Hospital’s Service Plan.

A Steering Group was in place to oversee the development of a Business Continuity Plan and Business Impact Analysis. 

Internal controls and risk management were considered by the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
were approved by the Board and were reviewed on an annual basis and updated where necessary. The Committee met four times 
annually and supported the work of the Board by reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and financial reporting and the 
statutory financial statements prior to submission to the Board for approval, along with the review of the operation of the internal 
and external audit process.  The Chairperson reported to the Board on such matters. 

Employee Matters 

The company endeavoured to provide the employees with a safe environment in which to work and provided adequate training 
resources. All employees were responsible for maintaining general risk awareness, reporting incidents, complying with the rules 
and regulations set out in terms of employment, maintaining confidentiality of patient and company information and were trained 
in basic emergency procedures – resuscitation, evacuation and fire precautions as relevant to the employee’s particular work 
area.  Employment control initiatives and adherence to the European Working Time Directive posed challenges in this regard.

Environmental Matters

The company sought to minimise adverse impacts on the environment from its activities whilst continuing to address health, 
safety and economic issues. 

CHILDREN’S UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL DAC 
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2. COMPANY AIMS & OBJECTIVES 

Charitable Objectives

The mission statement for the Hospital was:

By caring for the sick, we participate in the healing ministry of Christ;
We honour the spirit of Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy;

We pledge ourselves to respect the dignity of human life;
to care for the sick with compassion and professionalism;

to promote excellence and equity, quality and accountability.
In our friendly and caring environment,

we strive to promote the highest quality of care for all
with dignity, compassion and respect.

We value our staff and encourage their development.

The charitable activities of the hospital were to:

• Administer healthcare services to the sick children from the local community, regional referral areas and national referral 
services;

• Educate and train medical doctors, nurses and allied health and social care professionals in the provision of healthcare 
services to the sick;

• Carry out research activity to promote innovation and technological advances in the care and treatment of patients.

All of the above was in keeping with the vision, mission and ethos of Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy in Ireland as 
espoused in the Mission Statement.

The company was granted a licence by MMCUH relating to the use of the land and buildings making up the Children’s University 
Hospital for the provision of the healthcare and related charitable activities set out above.

2018 Key Objectives 

The 2018 Service Plan for Children’s University Hospital formed the basis of the Service Level Agreement between the Hospital 
and the Health Services Executive. It set out, at a high level, the type and volume of services that the Hospital sought to provide 
in 2018 within the allocated resources and the parameters of the Financial Plan. It also considered the statutory and regulatory 
requirements and the Operational Plans from the HSE and the Children’s Hospital Group 2018. There were nine high level themes 
which were informed by the National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare, Quality and Patient Safety Agenda, the National 
Clinical Programmes and the Children’s Hospital Group integration strategy. The nine themes were as follows:

1. Patient Safety and Quality Care
2. The Children’s Hospital Group 
3. Patient Flow
4. New Service Developments
5. ICT
6. Financial Framework
7. People Strategy
8. Communications
9. Capital Projects and Infrastructure

Each theme had a set of defined goals with timeframes agreed, against which the progress of this Service Plan was measured 
each quarter. 
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3. REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

A key trend which continued in 2018 was the high volume of mental health admissions and the extent of delayed discharges. This 
trend included patients that were medically fit for discharge, but who could not be discharged due to an absence of appropriate 
facilities elsewhere within the community. The net effect of these factors was a 9.5% increase in the average length of stay for 
patients over the last two years. This in turn gave rise to a reduction in effective available bed capacity with the consequential 
impacts on activity. The trends in activity levels, as set out below, should be considered in this regard.

• In-patient discharges amounted to 7,768 which represented an increase of 252 (3.4%) on 2017;

• Day cases decreased by 267 (3.4%) to 7,558;

• Emergency Department attendances decreased by 3.7% to 47,337;

• Out-Patient attendances increased by 1% to 78,302;

• Average length of stay increased by 3% to 4.05 days.

The Hospital returned a financial surplus of €603,000 for 2018 (2017: surplus of €15,000), thereby reducing the cumulative deficit 
at financial year-end to €266,000 (2017: €869,000). Further details are set out in Section 4 and 8 below and in the body of the 
financial statements.
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3. REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (CONTINUED)

There were a number of noteworthy achievements and events during and subsequent to the financial year. The following 
are just some examples: 

Quality

- Roll out of Children First training for all clinical and non-clinical staff, with 91% of staff trained by December 2018;

- Achievement of a 71% uptake of the flu vaccination following a very successful BeInFLUential internal campaign;

- Launch, in August 2018, of the case study and toolkit titled ‘Bringing the Board of Directors on Board with Quality and 
Safety of Clinical Care’ in partnership with HSE’s QID (Quality Improvement Division);  

- National Neurosurgical Symposium - a day long national symposium in October to celebrate 10 years of neurosurgery 
at the Hospital and over 5,000 neurosurgical procedures;

- A successful media campaign, initiated in the latter part of 2018, to highlight the impact of homelessness - noting that 
842 children who attended the Hospital’s Emergency Department in 2018 were discharged with no fixed home address 
- an increase of 29% increase on the 2017 figure.

ICT

- First prize at the annual Irish Healthcare Awards for the ICT and Diabetes teams for their ‘Diabetes Care Pathway’ project.

Capital
                    

- Opening of the new two storey €5m Out Patient Department facility which will cater for over 6,500 renal and neurology 
patients who attend the Hospital each year and features additional clinical facilities with spacious waiting rooms and 
patient play areas;

- Commencement in 2018 of the €1.5m refurbishment of St Philomena’s Ward – into 8 single cubicle isolation rooms. To 
be completed in Q2, 2019.

A very significant milestone was the enactment of The Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018) on 20th November 2018 which 
provided for the establishment of a new legal entity, Children’s Health Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently 
provided by Dublin’s three children’s hospitals, and, to ultimately run the new children’s hospital in due course. The Board, 
together with Senior Management and all staff, worked very closely with key stakeholders in order to ensure this was achieved. 
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4. RESULTS

The 2018 HSE Revenue Allocation, before adjustments, amounted to €109,226,000 (2017: €100,328,000), an increase of 
€8,898,000, representing 9%. While such an increase is to be welcomed, it primarily related to increased costs arising from 
approved service developments, specific cost pressures and service challenges (reflecting casemix) and pay costs arising under 
national pay awards. The Net Allocation, post adjustments, amounted to €108,666,000 (2017: €100,207,000), an increase of 
€8,459,000. The adjustments relate to the approved release, deferral and re-allocation of capital and revenue funding receipts in 
order to match against the timing and nature of the related expenditure.

Other Income amounted to €15,989,000 (2017: €14,163,000). The increase primarily reflects an additional €2,024,000 received 
from other HSE funded agencies in respect of re-charged expenses. Private insurer income receipts continues to be challenging 
– a trend that is being experienced throughout the sector. 

Expenditure in 2018 excluding depreciation charges amounted to €124,019,000 (2017: €114,325,000). Pay related costs amounted 
to €91,630,000 (2017: €84,150,000), an increase of €7,480,000. The increase primarily reflects the costs associated with the 
funded increase of 76 whole time equivalents in the average numbers of persons employed during the year. These posts can be 
attributed to new and expanding service developments, the Children’s Health Ireland integration program and the conversion of 
certain external contractors (previously categorised under Non Pay) to employee status. In addition, there were incremental costs 
arising as a result of national pay awards.

Non Pay related costs amounted to €32,389,000 (2017: €30,175,000), an increase of €2,214,000. Clinical related costs increased 
by €1,356,000, effectively reflecting the underlying casemix (increased medical surgical supplies, equipment and pathology tests). 
Office expenses increased by €715,000, reflecting increased employee numbers, footprint and office rental costs and increased 
operational costs associated with offsite storage and retrieval of patient charts and printing of national newborn screening cards.  

An Operating Surplus of €636,000 was recorded for 2018 (2017: surplus of €45,000). Whilst an Exceptional item arose in relation 
to settlement of the 2008 Consultants Contract dispute, it resulted in no net charge within the financial period. After accounting 
for Interest and Bank Charges, the Surplus recorded amounted to €603,000 (2017: Surplus of €15,000), thereby reducing the 
cumulative deficit at financial year-end to €266,000 (2017: €869,000).

As noted under Section 8 of this report, Post Balance Sheet Events, the cumulative deficit was transferred to Children’s Health 
Ireland on 1 January 2019, resulting in the company being in a solvent position at that date.

The directors are satisfied with the performance of the company for the financial year.

5. GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern which includes, where appropriate, 
writing down the company’s assets to net realisable value.  Provision has also been made for any onerous contractual commitments 
at the balance sheet date.  The financial statements do not include any provision for the future costs of terminating the business 
of the company except to the extent that such were committed at the balance sheet date.

In reaching this opinion, the directors have considered the following:

• The Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018) was enacted on 20th November 2018. This Act provided for the establishment 
of a new legal entity, Children’s Health Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently provided by Dublin’s three 
children’s hospitals, and, to ultimately run the new children’s hospital in due course. 
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5. GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

• In accordance with Part 6 of the Act and the Part 6 Agreement entered into between Mater Misericordiae and the Children’s 
University Hospitals CLG, Children’s University Hospital, Health Service Executive and Children’s Health Ireland, dated 21st 
December 2018, all employees, property, rights and liabilities of Children’s University Hospital as at 31st December 2018, 
were transferred to  Children’s Health Ireland on 1st January 2019, and, to the extent that any inter-company liability arose 
from the transfer, it was waived immediately thereafter by Children’s Health Ireland.

• Children’s University Hospital ceased operations at midnight on 31st December 2018. The effect of the transfer, as referred 
to above, is that the “Retained Earnings –Deficit” of this company as at 31st December 2018 of €266,000 was transferred to 
Children’s Health Ireland. As a result, the directors of Children’s University Hospital plan to sign a declaration of solvency 
and commence a members’ voluntary liquidation in respect of this company on 31st May 2019.

6. EU LATE PAYMENTS REGULATIONS

The Prompt Payments of Account Act, 1997 and European Communities (Late payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations 
2012 impose a legal requirement on bodies to make interest payments in respect of invoices that are paid in excess of 30 days 
after receipt. In so far as is permitted by cashflow constraints, it is company policy to settle all invoices within the appropriate 
timeframe. The interest paid under the terms of the regulations amounted to €Nil (2017: €Nil).

7. PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Under Irish Company Law, the company is required to give a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the company 
faces.

Operational Risk Management

The principal risks identified are set out below:

• Increased demand for services beyond funded levels and physical capacity; 

• Control over pay and staff numbers whilst at the same time seeking to attract, develop and retain a highly skilled and 
qualified workforce to meet growing service needs;

• The Company is providing increasingly complex medical procedures, with the associated underlying clinical risks for 
patients, reflecting the developments of its core specialties and the general advancement of medical knowledge and 
practices;

• The dearth of child and adolescent mental health services in the community resulting in increased pressure and demands 
on the Hospital, for which it does not have the appropriate resources; 

• The increasingly stringent clinical and corporate governance compliance requirements and the physical and financial 
challenges associated with addressing same;

• The critical risks arising from an ageing physical and ICT infrastructure and the challenges of securing funding for critical 
on-going investment; 

• Managing the scale of change and draw on human resources, organisational knowledge and skill sets to assist with the 
integration of paediatric services within Children’s Health Ireland; 

• Compliance with the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) which came into effect on 25th May 2018. 
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7. PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Many of the above risks are reflected within the organisational Corporate Risk Register. Whilst there is concern re the length of 
time that some items remain on this register, the company has long experience of coping with and endeavouring to minimise 
these risks whilst delivering excellent patient care within its catchment area and beyond.

Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow risk and liquidity risk. The Hospital 
does not use derivative financial instruments.
 
Credit risk

The Hospital’s principal financial assets are bank and cash balances and trade and other receivables.  The Hospital’s credit risk 
is primarily attributable to its trade receivables.  The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful 
receivables.  An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is 
evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. The credit risk on cash at bank is limited because the counterparties 
are banks with satisfactory credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  

The principal financial liabilities of the company are bank overdraft and trade and other payables.  The exposure from trade and 
other receivables arises primarily from amounts due from health insurance companies. 

Liquidity risk 

In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future activities, the Hospital 
occasionally may use HSE approved overdraft finance.

Market risk

- Interest rate risk

The company uses the bank overdraft for short-term borrowings.  The interest rate is HSE agreed and the company currently has 
no material exposure.

 - Foreign currency exchange rate risk

The company’s functional currency is euro. The company has no material exposure to foreign currencies. 
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8. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018) was enacted on 20th November 2018. This Act provided for the establishment of 
a new legal entity, Children’s Health Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently provided by Dublin’s three children’s 
hospitals, and, to ultimately run the new children’s hospital in due course. 
 
In accordance with Part 6 of the Act and the Part 6 Agreement entered into between Mater Misericordiae and the Children’s 
University Hospitals CLG, Children’s University Hospital, Health Service Executive and Children’s Health Ireland, dated 21st 
December 2018, all employees, property, rights and liabilities of Children’s University Hospital as at 31st December 2018, were 
transferred to  Children’s Health Ireland on 1st January 2019, and, to the extent that any inter-company liability arose from the 
transfer, it was waived immediately thereafter by Children’s Health Ireland.

Children’s University Hospital ceased operations at midnight on 31st December 2018. The effect of the transfer, as referred to 
above, is that the “Retained Earnings –Deficit” of this company as at 31st December 2018 of €266,000 was transferred to Children’s 
Health Ireland. As a result, the directors of Children’s University Hospital plan to sign a declaration of solvency and commence a 
members’ voluntary liquidation in respect of this company on 31st May 2019.

9. POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

There were no political donations made during the financial year.  

10.  ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The measures that the directors have taken to secure compliance with the requirements of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies 
Act 2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting records, are the employment of appropriately qualified accounting personnel 
and the maintenance of computerised accounting systems. The company’s accounting records are maintained at the company’s 
registered office at Children’s University Hospital, Temple Street, Dublin 1.

11.  DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 

In the case of each of the persons who are directors at the time the directors’ report and financial statements are approved:  

a) So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s statutory auditors are 
unaware; and  

b) Each director has taken all steps that ought to have been taken by the director in order to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.  

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 330 of the
Companies Act 2014 (as amended).
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12.  AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, continue in office in accordance with Section 
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. S. Sheehan 
Director

Mr. J. Fitzpatrick 
Director

31st May 2019
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The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2014.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law, the directors have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland issued by the Financial Reporting Council (“relevant financial reporting framework”). Under company law, 
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the surplus or deficit of the company for 
the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies for the Company financial statements and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, 
identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
surplus or deficit of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the company’s website.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of Children’s University Hospital DAC (the ‘company’)

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31 December 2018 and of the 
surplus for the financial year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and, in particular, with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014. 

The financial statements we have audited comprise:

• the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings;

• the Balance Sheet;

• the Statement of Cash Flows; and

• the related notes 1 to 24, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out in note 2.

The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council (“the relevant 

financial reporting framework”). 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are described below in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” 

section of our report. 

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 

in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter – Financial statements prepared on a basis other than that of going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in 

note 1 to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going 

concern.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Reports and 

Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 

report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Continued on next page/
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Other information (continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 

determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 

report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 

intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the  company’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity (or where relevant, the group) to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Continued on next page/
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identifies during the audit.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:

• We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

• In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

• The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

• In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements and the directors’ 
report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 

identified material misstatements in the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our opinion, the 

disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made.

Kevin Sheehan

For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm

Deloitte & Touche House, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

31st May 2019
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 Notes 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

TURNOVER

Revenue grants 4 108,666 100,207
Other income 5 15,989 14,163
Capital grant amortisation  2,235 1,739
 
  126,890 116,109
  

COSTS  

Staff costs 6 (91,630) (84,150)
Non pay costs 7 (32,389) (30,175)
Depreciation  (2,235) (1,739)
  
  (126,254) (116,064)
  

OPERATING SURPLUS  636 45

Exceptional item 8 - -
Interest payable and similar charges 9 (33) (30)
    
SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
BEFORE TAXATION  603 15

Taxation 10 - -
    
SURPLUS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 11 603 15

Retained earnings - deficit at beginning of the financial year  (869) (884)
   
Retained earnings - deficit at end of the financial year  (266) (869)
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  2018 2017
 Notes €’000 €’000

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible Assets 12 4,796 3,408
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks 13 2,225 2,022
Debtors 14 8,020 4,333
Revenue Grants Receivable  13,222 10,494
   
  23,467 16,849
  
CREDITORS: (Amounts falling due within one year) 15 (23,732) (17,717)
   
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES  (265) (868)
   
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  4,531 2,540

CAPITAL GRANTS 16 (4,796) (3,408)
   
NET LIABILITIES  (265) (868)
   

Financed By 

Called up share capital presented as equity 18 1 1
Retained earnings - deficit  (266) (869)
   
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT  (265) (868)
   

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31st May 2019 and signed on its 
behalf by:

Mr. S. Sheehan  Mr. J. Fitzpatrick
Director  Director
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  Notes 2018 2017
   €’000 €’000

Net cash flows from operating activities 19 (2,027) (2,495)
   
Cash flows from investing activities  
Interest paid  (33) (30)
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets  (5,565) (5,870)
   
Net cash flows from investing activities  (5,598) (5,900)
   

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital grants received  5,565 5,870
   
Net cash flows from financing activities  5,565 5,870
   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,060) (2,525)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  (2,359) 166
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  (4,419) (2,359)
   

Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents 

Bank overdraft   (4,419) (2,359)
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1. GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern which includes, where 
appropriate, writing down the company’s assets to net realisable value.  Provision has also been made for any onerous 
contractual commitments at the balance sheet date.  The financial statements do not include any provision for the future 
costs of terminating the business of the company except to the extent that such were committed at the balance sheet 
date.

 In reaching this opinion, the directors have considered the following:

• The Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018) was enacted on 20th November 2018. This Act provided for the 
establishment of a new legal entity, Children’s Health Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently 
provided by Dublin’s three children’s hospitals, and, to ultimately run the new children’s hospital in due course. 

• In accordance with Part 6 of the Act and the Part 6 Agreement entered into between Mater Misericordiae and the 
Children’s University Hospitals CLG, Children’s University Hospital, Health Service Executive and Children’s Health 
Ireland, dated 21st December 2018, all employees, property, rights and liabilities of Children’s University Hospital as 
at 31st December 2018, were transferred to  Children’s Health Ireland on 1st January 2019, and, to the extent that any 
inter-company liability arose from the transfer, it was waived immediately thereafter by Children’s Health Ireland.

• The Children’s University Hospital ceased operations at midnight on 31st December 2018. The effect of the transfer, 
as referred to above, is that the “Retained Earnings –Deficit” of this company as at 31st December 2018 of €266,000 
was transferred to Children’s Health Ireland. As a result, the directors of Children’s University Hospital plan to sign 
a declaration of solvency and commence a members’ voluntary liquidation in respect of this company on 31st May 
2019.

2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. The accounting policies and measurement bases have all been 
applied consistently throughout the financial year and the preceding year.

General Information and basis of accounting

Children’s University Hospital (registered number 351404) is a company incorporated in Ireland under the Companies 
Act 2014. The address of the registered office is Children’s University Hospital, Temple Street, Dublin 1. The nature of the 
company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the director’s report on pages 3 to 13. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2014 and Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council. 
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2.  STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 Turnover
 
 Revenue grants and other income

Revenue grants received and receivable from the Health Service Executive (HSE) are credited to the Statement of Income 
and Retained Earnings on the basis of the allocated amount notified by the HSE to the Hospital at the end of the financial 
year. The revenue grant amount shown in the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings is net of revenue or capital 
amounts deferred or released, in accordance with the timing of the related underlying expenditure, and with the approval 
of the funding body.

 
As required by the Department of Health, revenue grants are treated for the purpose of the cashflow statement as cash 
generated from operating activities.

 
 Patient income

This income is accounted for on an invoiced basis. Invoices are raised when the patient is discharged, or, in respect of 
long term patients, on a six monthly basis.

 Outpatient and road traffic accident income
 This income is accounted for on a cash receipts basis.

 Retrospective pay awards
 The expense is charged in the financial year in which the HSE allows the corresponding revenue allocation and therefore 

not necessarily in the financial year to which the expense relates.

 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
 Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets 

at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset by equal annual instalments over its expected useful life as follows: 

 Equipment : 5 years
 Computer equipment : 3 years

 Building additions are transferred to the company’s parent company. 

 Stocks
 Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to sell, which is equivalent to the net realisable 

value. Cost comprises expenditure incurred in the normal course of business in bringing stocks to their present location 
and condition. Full provision is made for obsolete and slow moving items.

 Capital grants
 Capital grants are treated as deferred credits and are amortised to income on the same basis as the related assets are 

depreciated. In addition to capital grant allocations from the HSE, capital grants include fundraised capital grants. 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 
 Foreign currencies
 The financial statements are expressed in Euro. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are 

translated using the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in other currencies are translated using 
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

 Profits and losses arising from currency translation and on settlement of amounts receivable and payable in other 
currencies are dealt with in arriving at the result from ordinary activities.

 Leases
 Rentals under operating leases are charged against income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

 Pension costs
 The company operates a defined benefits pension scheme in respect of employees eligible for inclusion under the 

Voluntary Hospitals Superannuation Scheme. The scheme is administered, funded and underwritten by the Department 
of Health. The company acts as agents in the operation of the scheme and does not make any contributions to the 
scheme.

 Contributions are received from eligible employees only. In accordance with the service plan agreed with the HSE and 
the Department of Health, pension contributions received may be offset against pension payments made and the surplus 
or deficit each financial year forms part of the funding for the company.  The directors consider that the company has no 
responsibility for any liability that falls due as a result of any ultimate under funding of the scheme.

 Contributions received are credited to the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings as they are received. Payments 
made under the scheme are charged to the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings as they fall due.

 Refunds of Contributions are charged to the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings when notification is received 
from the Department of Health to make a payment to an employee who is leaving the scheme.

 In line with HSE HR Circular 008/2014, the Hospital is severally and jointly liable with the employee for any chargeable 
excess tax liability that arises on the employee’s pension fund, resulting from reductions to the Standard Fund Threshold.  
The tax liability may be payable in full by the Hospital with the excess tax recoupable by agreement from the employee, 
with the maximum period being 20 years.  Recoupment is made by direct deduction from gross annual pension. Should 
the individual die before the debt owing to the Hospital is fully discharged, the outstanding debt is released.

A new Single Public Service Pension Scheme (Single Scheme) commenced with effect from 1st  January 2013. The 
Scheme applies to all pensionable first time entrants to the Public Service, as well as former public servants returning to 
the Public Service after a break of more than 26 weeks. Benefits are calculated by reference to “referable amounts” for 
each year’s service that are uprated by the CPI as notified by the Minister.  All contributions deducted from members 
wages/salaries are remitted to the nominated bank account of the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform and not 
credited to the Profit and Loss Account. As per Public Service Pensions (Single Scheme and Other Provisions) Act 2012, 
Section 44(1) (b), payments arising under this Single Scheme to retiring employees shall be paid from funds provided by 
the Oireachtas for that purpose.

 Provision for doubtful debts
The ageing and recoverability of patient bills outstanding is considered on an ongoing basis and appropriate provision 
is made. In line with HSE policy, full provision has been made for all amounts greater than 12 months with additional 
provision made against specific amounts whose recoverability is considered doubtful.
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Hospital becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into.

The financial instruments are recognised and measured in accordance with Section 11 and Section 12 of FRS 102.

Financial assets and liabilities
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction costs), except for 
those financial assets classified at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings, 
which are initially measured at fair value (which is normally the transaction price excluding transaction costs), unless 
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. If an arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest 
for a similar instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset in the balance sheet when, and only when there exists a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and the Hospital intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or are settled, (b) the Hospital transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset, or (c) the Hospital, despite having retained some, but not all, significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, has transferred control of the asset to another party. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

 Balances are classified as payable or receivable within one year if payment or receipt is due within one year or less. If not, 
they are presented as falling due after more than one year. Balances that are classified as payable or receivable within one 
year on initial recognition are measured at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be 
paid or received, net of impairment.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.  
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3.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCER-
TAINTY (CONTINUED)

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is included in the accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements.

Critical judgement in applying the company’s accounting policies

The following judgement, apart from those involving estimates, made by the directors has had significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the company’s financial statements:

Going Concern
The directors believe that the financial statements should be prepared on a basis other than a going concern basis. See 
note 1 for further details.

Pensions
Most employees participate in the VHSS operated by the HSE. The VHSS is an unfunded ‘pay as you go’ scheme under-
written by the Minister for Health. In the judgement of the directors, the funds required to pay current pension liabilities, 
under the VHSS, as they arise will continue to be provided by the Department of Health. See note 22 for further details.

Contingent Liabilities
The directors’ determination of contingent liabilities are judgemental. See note 20 for further details. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The directors make estimates and assumptions concerning the future in the process of preparing the company’s financial 
statements. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabil-
ities within the next financial year are addressed below.  

Useful economic lives of tangible fixed assets
The annual depreciation on tangible fixed assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful lives and residual values 
of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are reviewed annually. They are amended when necessary 
to reflect current estimates, based on economic utilisation, technological advancements and the physical condition of 
the assets.   The amortisation rate for capital grants is also reviewed in conjunction with the asset lives review and these 
are adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment of debtors
The directors make an assessment at the end of each financial year of whether there is objective evidence that a debtor is 
impaired. When assessing impairment of debtors and other amounts receivable, the directors consider factors including 
the age profile of outstanding amounts receivable, recent correspondence and historical experience in cash collectors 
from debtors.
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4. REVENUE GRANTS 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 HSE revenue grants receivable 109,226   100,328
 HSE revenue grants income released / (deferred)    597 (217)
 HSE revenue grants transferred to other agencies (650) (670)
 HSE revenue grants attributable to capital related items (705) -
 Amounts invoiced to HSE / HSE funded agencies 198 646
 Other - 120
   
  108,666 100,207
   

5. OTHER INCOME 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000
 

Patient income 5,323 5,829
Sundry income 4,163 2,104

   
 9,486 7,933
Payroll deductions:
Superannuation contributions (Note 22) 2,620 2,681
Pension levy 3,883 3,549

   
 15,989 14,163

   

6. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

 The average number, in whole-time equivalents (“WTE”), of persons employed by the company (including  
executive directors) during the financial year, analysed by category, was as follows:

  2018 2017
  Number Number

 Management 5 5
 Administration 291 260
 N.C.H.D. 94 89
 Medical consultants 70 65
 Nursing 463 443
 Paramedical 218 205
 Support services 54 52
   
  1,195 1,119
   

Included in staff numbers above are 39 (2017: 24) WTE staff members who are seconded to HSE funded organisations. 

The growth in Administrative staff reflects the increase in seconded staff referred above, new posts under the Children’s 
Health Ireland integration program and additional medical secretarial staff to support increased clinical posts.
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6. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS (CONTINUED)
  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows: 

 Wages and salaries 78,328 71,808
 Executive directors’ emoluments 526 499
 Social welfare costs 7,058 6,403
   
  85,912 78,710
 Pensions paid for the financial year (Note 22) 5,718 5,440
   
  91,630 84,150
   
 

No salaries or fees are payable to the directors for their services as Company directors. No allowance, increased salary 
or other remuneration is payable to the staff members in respect of this position. These staff members are paid a salary 
for their normal work within the Hospital.

 The number of employees on salaries in excess of €65,000 can be summarised as follows:

               Number of employees
 
  2018  2017

Salary range                                               
 €65,000- 75,000 61 50
 €75,000- 85,000 31 39
 €85,000- 95,000 20 14
 €95,000- 105,000 7 2
 €105,000- 115,000 5 7
 €115,000- 125,000 3 5
 €125,000- 135,000 10 7
 €135,000- 145,000 12 6
 €145,000- 155,000 10 9
 €155,000- 165,000 6 10
 €165,000- 175,000 8 18

€175,000- 185,000 9 9
€185,000- 195,000 4 2
€195,000- 205,000 3 1
€205,000–215,000 1 -
€225,000- 235,000 2 1
€235,000- 245,000 - 1

     
  192 181
   

The above analysis includes all employees on a remuneration of €65,000 or above, including where part of this salary is 
recovered from another agency. Salaries for employees whereby the Hospital is not the paymaster have been excluded. 
Locum and leave of absence employees are also excluded. 

 The salary of the Chief Executive was €119,563 including employer PRSI. 
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7. NON PAY COSTS 
  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 Clinical related costs                 20,821                 19,465
 Administration and other non-pay costs                 7,342             7,396
 Finance costs         245                  48
 Office expenses                    3,981             3,266
   
                   32,389                         30,175
  

8. EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement provision   3,894 -
Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement funding  (3,894) -
     
  - -
  

On 15th June 2018, the HSE agreed to the Terms of Settlement issued by the High Court in relation to proceedings 
initiated by over 700 consultants nationally against their employers and other parties in relation to an alleged failure 
to pay remuneration and / or pension in accordance with the terms of their respective contracts of employment, the 
Consultants Contract 2018.

 
The terms of settlement include 3 key elements:

i. Prospective restoration of Consultant remuneration to contractually agreed scales in early 2019;
ii. Settlement of retrospective remuneration to contractually agreed rates from June 2018 to the point of 

prospective restoration noted in i above;
iii. Settlement of all liabilities pre June 2018 in two tranches, payable in 2019 and 2020.

 
The current estimated known costs to the company of honouring the Terms of Settlement is €3,894,000, of which 
€2,093,000 is payable in 2019 and €1,801,000 is payable in 2020. Initial payments have been made in 2019 and the 
related HSE funding also received in 2019.

 
It is company policy to charge retrospective pay awards in the financial year in which the HSE issues the corresponding 
revenue allocation and thus, not necessarily in the financial year to which the expense relates. However, as these payments 
arise from a High Court settlement, as opposed to a pay award approved by the HSE, and relate to remuneration for 
services provided in prior years, the full charge is being recognised in 2018, the year that the liability was clarified. As 
the HSE has indicated, and demonstrated year to date, that funding will be forthcoming to cover settlement costs, the 
full respective funding has also been reflected in 2018, thereby leaving a nil charge. The respective liability for future 
payments and recoverable funding are reflected within the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings, Creditors (Note 
15) and Debtors (Note 14) in the Balance Sheet. 
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9. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 Interest paid and similar charges 33 30
   

10. TAXATION

There is no charge to taxation as the company has been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue Commissioners.

11. SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

The surplus on ordinary activities is stated after 
charging/ (crediting):

 
 Executive directors’ emoluments 526 499
 Depreciation 2,235 1,739
 Capital grant amortisation (2,235) (1,739)
 Operating leases: Land and buildings 594 248
  Equipment 244 244
    

 Auditor’s remuneration exclusive of VAT:
 -  Audit of financial statements 33 28
 -  Other assurance services - -
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12. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

  Improvements to
  Buildings Equipment Total
   €’000 €’000 €’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2018 - 35,128 35,128
Additions  1,942                                  3,623                                  5,565
Transfers/Retirements (1,942)                                   (792)                                (2,734)
 
At 31 December 2018 - 37,959 37,959
 

 
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2018 - 31,720 31,720
Charge for the financial year                                                                                     2,235                                  2,235 
Retirements                                                                                                                 (792)                                   (792)
 
At 31 December 2018 - 33,163 33,163
 
Net book value:
At 31 December 2018 - 4,796 4,796
 

At 31 December 2017 - 3,408 3,408
 

On 1 January 2002, the operation of the unincorporated hospital (Temple Street) was taken over by Children’s University 
Hospital. The land and buildings that comprised Temple Street were transferred to the Mater Misericordiae and the 
Children’s University Hospitals Limited (Parent Company). The transfer was effected by their donation by the Sisters of 
Mercy to the Parent Company, which is the sole shareholder of Children’s University Hospital. The legal process was 
completed in 2006.

Expenditure capitalised during the financial year in respect of improvements to buildings has been transferred to the 
parent company at net book value along with the related capital grants. The amount transferred for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to €1,941,626 (2017: €4,847,078).

Certain fixed assets which have been funded by the Minister for Health, are the property of the Hospital but may not be 
disposed of or applied to any other purposes without the Minister’s prior consent.
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13. STOCKS

  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

Medical and surgical 1,600 1,554
 Drugs and medicines 562 405
 Other 63 63
   
   2,225 2,022
  

 The replacement cost of stock is not materially different to the amount stated above.

14. DEBTORS  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000
 Amounts falling due within one financial year:
 Maintenance and in-patient charges 1,321 1,202
 Sundry debtors and prepayments 1,401 1,601
 Capital grant receivable 785 700
 Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement funding (Note 8)       3,894 -
  
  7,401 3,503

 Amounts falling due after more than one financial year:
 Capital grant receivable 619 830
  
  8,020 4,333
  

15. CREDITORS: (Amounts falling due within one year) 2018 2017
  €’000 €’000
 
 Bank overdraft 4,419 2,359
 Trade and sundry creditors 5,449 2,610
 PAYE/PRSI 2,560 2,247
 Pay accruals 3,470 3,638
 Non-pay accruals 2,737 4,401
 Deferred grants - Revenue 1,053 2,097
 Deferred grants – Capital 150 365
 Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement liability (Note 8) 3,894 -
  
  23,732 17,717
  

 The bank overdraft facility is secured by a letter of Set-Off which entitles the bank to hold all Company monies held in 
the bank against the overdraft liability.
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16. CAPITAL GRANTS
  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 At 1 January 3,408 4,124
 HSE capital grants expended during the financial year 1,794 1,999
 Fundraised capital grants 3,771 3,871
 Capital grant write-back:
 - Amortisation (2,235) (1,739)
 - Other write-backs or transfers (Note 12) (1,942) (4,847)
  
 At 31 December 4,796 3,408
  

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The carrying values of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:

 2018 2017
   €’000 €’000

 Financial assets
 
 Measured at undiscounted amount receivable
 - Trade and other debtors (Note 14)                 4,126            4,333
 - Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement funding (Note 14)              3,894     -
  

 Financial liabilities
 
 Measured at undiscounted amount payable  
 - Bank overdraft (Note 15)                  4,419          2,359
 - Trade and sundry creditors (Note 15)                5,449          2,610
 - Consultants Contract 2008 - Settlement liability (Note 15)              3,894   -
  

18. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL PRESENTED AS EQUITY
   
   2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

 Authorised:
 1,000 ordinary shares of €1 each 1 1
  
 Issued:
 1,000 ordinary shares of €1 each 1 1
  

Presented as follows:
 Called up share capital presented as equity 1 1
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19. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING SURPLUS  
 TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  2018 2017

 €’000 €’000

 Operating Surplus 636 45
 

Adjustment for: 
 Depreciation 2,235 1,739
 Capital grant amortisation (2,235) (1,739)
  
 Operating cash flow before movement in working capital 636 45
 

Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 81 (511)
 Increase / (Decrease) in non-capital creditors 1,320 (1,187)
 (Increase) / Decrease in stocks (203) 3
 (Increase) in net Grants Receivable (3,861) (845)
  
 Net cash flows from operating activities (2,027) (2,495)

 

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Capital Grants
The company has signed an undertaking with the HSE to enter into a Grant and Security Agreement in respect of all 
capital grants received after 2nd September 2014. The underlying draft agreement states that the unamortised value of 
capital grants advanced with effect from that date may become repayable in certain circumstances. At 31st December 
2018, the current value of such unamortised grants amounted to €3,580,175. No provision has been made in the financial 
statements in respect of this amount as the directors believe that the likelihood of crystalisation at this time is remote. 

Other
The directors are satisfied that there are no other contingent liabilities. 

21. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

 The commitments outlined below all transferred to Children’s Health Ireland on 1 January 2019. Refer to Note 24 for 
further details.

 Capital commitments
 At 31st December 2018, the Company had outstanding contractual commitments in respect of building projects amount-

ing to €1,004,707 (2017: €448,010) and equipment €0 (2017: €349,000).

 Lease commitments
 The total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows:

  Land and
  Buildings Equipment Total
  €’000 €’000 €’000

 Within one year 619 244 863
 Between two and five years 2,477 - 2,477
    
  3,096 244 3,340
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22. PENSION COST

 The company operates a defined benefits pension scheme in respect of employees eligible for inclusion under the 
Voluntary Hospitals Superannuation Scheme (VHSS).   In the financial year ending 31 December 2018, €2,620,367 (2017: 
€2,680,866) was retained and treated as income and €5,717,995 (2017: €5,439,900) was paid to pensioners. 

Whilst the VHSS scheme is a defined benefit scheme, the company has availed of the multi-employer scheme exemption 
from the disclosure requirements relating to defined benefit schemes in FRS 102, on the grounds that the company’s 
deemed contributions, as determined by the Department for Health, are set in relation to the current service period only 
(i.e. are not affected by a surplus or deficit relating to the past service of its own employees or any other members of 
the scheme).  On this basis the scheme is considered for disclosure purposes as a defined contribution scheme and no 
further disclosures are required.

A new Single Public Service Pension Scheme (Single Scheme) commenced with effect from 1st January 2013. The Scheme 
applies to all pensionable first time entrants to the Public Service, as well as former public servants returning to the Public 
Service after a break of more than 26 weeks. Benefits are calculated by reference to “referable amounts” for each year’s 
service that are uprated by the CPI as notified by the Minister.  All contributions deducted from members wages/salaries 
are remitted to the nominated bank account of the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform and not credited to 
the Profit and Loss Account.  As per Public Service Pensions (Single Scheme and Other Provisions) Act 2012, Section 44(1) 
(b), payments arising under this Single Scheme to retiring employees shall be paid from funds provided by the Oireachtas 
for that purpose.

The amount deducted from employees in 2018 and paid over to DPER amounted to €1,039,483.

23. PARENT COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Parent company
 The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mater Misericordiae and The Children’s University Hospitals CLG 

(“MMCUH”).  The net amount owed by the MMCUH to the company at 31st December 2018 was €83,063 (2017: €67,700). 
Mr Sean Sheehan, Chairperson and Ms. S. Brady, Deputy Chairperson, are non-executive directors of both entities.

Fundraising body
Temple Street Foundation was a company limited by guarantee with no share capital and was not controlled by the com-
pany (Note – Temple Street Foundation merged with Children’s Medical and Research Foundation on 1st January 2019 
to form Children’s Health Foundation). During the financial year, Temple Street Foundation, provided the company with 
€3,975,017 (2017: €4,156,363) in respect of fundraised capital grants and other non-capital amounts. The total fundraised 
capital grants amounted to €3,770,585 in the current financial year (2017: €3,871,092). Of the non-capital amounts, 
€204,432 (2017: €221,081) comprised of research related grant receipts (out of a total for research grant receipts, from 
all sources, of €470,278 (2017: €450,179)) and €Nil (2017: €64,190) were in respect of assistance received for expenditure 
which has not been capitalised. This income and related expenditure are netted in the financial statements.

As at 31st December 2018, €62,596 (2017: €82,135) was due from Temple Street Foundation to the company. Ms. S. Brady 
was a non-executive director of both the Children’s University Hospital and Temple Street Foundation throughout 2018.

Other
The total remuneration for key management personnel for the period totalled €977,094. (2017: €1,091,911).
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23. PARENT COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

At 31st December 2018, the following were the balances owed by and owed to the associate companies:
 
       2018 2017
 Debtors   €’000 €’000

 Cappagh National Orthopaedic Hospital   10 10
 Mater Misericordiae University Hospital   - -
   
 Creditors and Accrued Expenses
 
 Mater Misericordiae University Hospital   (163) (42)
 Cappagh National Orthopaedic Hospital   (13) (5)
    
    (166) (37)
    

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Children’s Health Act 2018 (No 27 of 2018) was enacted on 20th November 2018. This Act provided for the establish-
ment of a new legal entity, Children’s Health Ireland, to take over responsibility for services currently provided by Dublin’s 
three children’s hospitals, and, to ultimately run the new children’s hospital in due course. 

 
In accordance with Part 6 of the Act and the Part 6 Agreement entered into between Mater Misericordiae and the Chil-
dren’s University Hospitals CLG, Children’s University Hospital, Health Service Executive and Children’s Health Ireland, 
dated 21st December 2018, all employees, property, rights and liabilities of Children’s University Hospital as at 31st De-
cember 2018, were transferred to  Children’s Health Ireland on 1st January 2019, and, to the extent that any inter-com-
pany liability arose from the transfer, it was waived immediately thereafter by Children’s Health Ireland.

The Children’s University Hospital ceased operations at midnight on 31st December 2018. The effect of the transfer, as 
referred to above, is that the “Retained Earnings –Deficit” of this company as at 31st December 2018 of €266,000 was 
transferred to Children’s Health Ireland. As a result, the directors of Children’s University Hospital plan to sign a declara-
tion of solvency and commence a members’ voluntary liquidation in respect of this company on 31st May 2019.
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APPENDIX  I - OTHER INCOME
  2018 2017
 Appendix €’000 €’000

Patient income III 5,323 5,829
Sundry income IV 4,163 2,104
  
  9,486 7,933
Payroll Deductions:

Superannuation contributions  2,620 2,681
Pension levy  3,883 3,549
  
  15,989 14,163
  

APPENDIX  II - TOTAL COSTS
  2018 2017
 Appendix €’000 €’000

Non-pay costs V 32,389 30,175
Pay costs VI 91,630 84,150
  
  124,019 114,325
  
Interest and charges IX 33 30
  
  124,052 114,355
  

APPENDIX III - PATIENT INCOME
  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

Road traffic accidents  154 117
Maintenance charges  5,169 5,712
  
  5,323 5,829
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APPENDIX IV - SUNDRY INCOME

  2018 2017
  €’000 €’000

Canteen  517 482
Parents’ accommodation  40 40
Recharged expenses   3,606 1,582
  
  4,163 2,104
  

APPENDIX V - NON-PAY COSTS

  2018 2017
 Appendix €’000 €’000

Bad debts  60 368
Medicines  9,238 9,062
Blood and blood products  394 333
Pathology  3,738 3,195
Medical and surgical appliances  5,713 5,296
X-Ray  319 393
Medical equipment  1,419 1,186
Food  553 503
Heat, light and power  837 817
Cleaning and washing  2,503 2,296
Furniture, crockery and hardware  231 189
Bedding and clothing  61 49
Maintenance  1,063 1,381
Transport and travel  308 292
Professional Fees  739 632
Finance VII 245 48
Office VIII 3,981 3,266
Sundries  424 323
Security  563 546
  
  32,389 30,175
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 2018 2017
 €’000 €’000

APPENDIX VI - PAY COSTS

Administration 16,259 14,159
Common contract 14,427 12,897
Medical - Other 9,567 8,669
Nursing 27,807 26,465
Paramedical 15,034 13,971
Catering, housekeeping etc. 2,435 2,285
Maintenance 383 264
Gratuities 1,106 1,285
Superannuation refunds - 48
Pensions 4,612 4,107
 
 91,630 84,150
 

APPENDIX VII – FINANCE

Insurance 184 10
Legal fees  61 38
 
 245 48
 

APPENDIX VIII - OFFICE

Equipment and office expenses 1,375 1,406
Printing and stationery 1,016 755
Telephone 304 296
Advertising, recruitment and courses 272 261
Postage 380 316
Rent 634 232
 
 3,981 3,266
 

APPENDIX IX – INTEREST AND CHARGES

Interest and charges 33 30
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